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Report from
the Chair
This will be my last annual review of the Environmental Protection
Authority’s activities. After seven challenging and busy years,
my tenure as Chair of the EPA’s Board has come to its end.
I was initially appointed to Chair the EPA’s Establishment
Board in March 2011, and the Board itself from June of
that year.
Over the past seven years, the Authority has regularly
attracted public and media attention. Some issues have
captured the national attention for better or for worse,
and the Authority has been caught up in the ensuing,
and often protracted, public debate. Not everyone
has agreed with our decisions. This simply reflects the
reality that a regulator’s judgements cannot please all
interests all of the time.
However, in all cases, the EPA has strenuously
maintained its independence, making sound and robust
judgements based on evidence, science, and data. It
has provided careful, well-considered advice to a wide
variety of EPA decision-making committees. I believe
the public has been well served by an organisation that
has focused on its legislative mandate of protecting
our environment, enhancing our way of life and the
economy. I suspect other environmental regulators
around the world may envy our independent status.
The EPA’s purview has broadened considerably since
its inception. It now encompasses servicing Boards
of Inquiry for proposals of national significance, the
most contentious being the Basin Reserve by-pass
in Wellington; regulating the Exclusive Economic
Zone – at four million square kilometres one of the
largest in the world; and administering and managing
the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme,
New Zealand’s key tool in curbing our greenhouse gas
emissions. And, for good measure, we were asked to
accept responsibility for burials at sea.
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In addition, the Authority’s staff represent New Zealand
at key international meetings associated with
chemicals, carbon trading systems, international
protocols and conventions. We have been an active
member of the Heads of Environmental Protection
Authorities in Australia and New Zealand (HEPA) since
it was established in 2015. Our work is highly respected
in all these overseas fora and beyond.
While public debate tends to focus on the big and
contentious issues, it is the smaller and less public
achievements I will most remember. Achievements
that nonetheless made a significant contribution to
protecting our environment, protecting our people,
and contributing to our economy. I recall initiatives
such as the hazardous substances toolbox – a
special kit of information for small businesses about
how to work safely with hazardous chemicals; the
reassessment of marine anti-fouling paints to reduce
harm to the aquatic environment; our reassessment
of organophosphates and carbonates, which
are persistent in the environment; as well as the
introduction of various bugs, fungi and other biocontrol
agents released to attack pests or noxious weeds.
I will remember the challenge of setting up a new
agency, harnessing the impressive knowledge, skills
and experience of a wide range of very smart people,
and providing them with the organisational and
governance framework that allowed them to make their
own contribution to the public good.
I value the strong role our statutory Māori Advisory
Committee, Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao (NKTT), has
played in guiding our development, and the growing

importance of mātauranga Māori in our work and
decision-making processes.
Taking on the responsibility for the Exclusive Economic
Zone (EEZ) provided a new dimension for the EPA.
We developed the skills and knowledge about this vast
and complex ecosystem, and the extractive industries
that work in the Zone and contribute to New Zealand’s
economic growth.
I will remember the value of the relationships and
connections forged with Māori, with commerce
and industry, with environmental groups, with other
government agencies, and with the international
science community.

I value the strong role our
statutory Māori Advisory
Committee, Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga Taiao (NKTT),
has played in guiding our
development.
Most of all, I will remember the contribution made by
highly-educated, talented and committed EPA staff,
managers and Board Members, past and present,
who have all worked incredibly hard to build an
environmental protection organisation with a first-class
record and an enviable international reputation. And I
want to acknowledge the professional leadership of the
EPA’s Chief Executives over this period, Rob Forlong
and Allan Freeth, with whom I and the Board have
enjoyed a close working relationship.
I thank you all.

Kerry Prendergast
Chair of the Board
Environmental Protection Authority
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Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga Taiao Korero
E kore e ngaro
tō purapura i ruia
mai i Rangiātea.
The seeds that were sown in
Rangiātea will never be lost.
Ko te wehi ki a Ihoa, nāna nei
ngā mea katoa.
Acknowledgements to the
source of all things.
Kei ngā mate huhua o te wā,
haere ki a nunui mā, ki
roroa mā. Haere ki te moenga
tē whakaarahia.
To the many deceased, we bid
you farewell to the resting place
from which you will not arise.
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Kei ngā ringa raupā,
kei ngā kaitiaki huri
noa i te motu; kei ō koutou
waka, ō koutou hapū, tēnā
koutou, tēnā koutou, tēnā
tātou katoa.
Sincere greetings to those
of you throughout the country
vigorously involved in kaitiaki
roles. I also acknowledge your
various tribal connections.

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao (Ngā Kaihautū) is the
statutory Māori advisory committee established to
provide advice and assistance to the EPA on matters
relating to policy, process, and decisions. The EPA has
statutory obligations to Māori within its establishment
legislation and within a number of the environmental
acts and regulations for which it is responsible.

Ngā Kaihautū take this opportunity to acknowledge
kaitiaki and their continued hard work to uphold their
values and mana in regards to the environment and
their people. The EPA is heading in a direction that is
mindful and proactive in deepening these connections
and respectful of the significant role of Māori in the
protection of the environment.

Our purpose is to provide advice and guidance to the
EPA Board, and ensure Māori perspectives are known
and incorporated into the EPA’s daily work.

The benefit of making such connections, early and
openly, can only be of benefit to everyone. There is only
one Aotearoa and one world. He waka eke noa – we’re
all in this canoe together.

Ngā Kaihautū does not speak for individual hapū or
whanau, but rather we work as guardians to ensure that
systems and processes will enable the most effective
outcomes for Māori within the current legislative
framework. Ngā Kaihautū encourages the voice of
Māori to come through in EPA processes, rather than
itself being that voice.

Mā tini, mā mano, ka rapa te whai
Lisa te Heuheu
Tumuaki – Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao

Ngā Kaihautū does not
speak for individual hapū
or whanau, but rather
we work as guardians to
ensure that systems and
processes will enable the
most effective outcomes
for Māori within the current
legislative framework.
In 2017/18, the focus of our work was and continues
to be the EPA Mātauranga Māori programme.
Māori perspectives are critical to decision making
across the breadth of work undertaken by the EPA.
The importance of weaving mātauranga Māori in
terms of cultural knowledge, cultural practices and
appropriate engagement are the key components of
this programme. It is testament to a shared vision and
strong leadership across the EPA that this programme
has been embedded in the work of the EPA.
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Chief Executive’s
overview
The EPA –
a proactive regulator
The EPA has launched an ambitious programme to
focus our expertise, resources and effort on the things
that matter most to the environment, and to the nation.
Resources are always limited, and we need to achieve
the very best outcomes by concentrating on areas of
work that will bring most benefit. This is about working
smarter, streamlining some processes, managing risk
effectively, and being clear about where we can really
make a difference.
All our efforts are in pursuit of our vision of:

An environment
protected, enhancing
our way of life and
the economy
Everything we do contributes to that aspiration –
but some activities can be transformative,
and merit particular focus.
Our aspiration is to be a proactive regulator, and we
have launched an organisation-wide initiative to make
that a reality. The EPA is proactive in all sorts of ways
already, but we want to make proactivity our standard
way of working, and prioritise our efforts accordingly.
We want to manage risk effectively, relying on sound
evidence and intelligence. We want regulation to
enable, rather than merely to set rules. We want to
be explicit about our decision-making processes and
rationale. All this is in the interests of protecting the
environment, enhancing economic opportunity and
improving New Zealanders’ way of life.
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We are ambitious for New Zealand. But we know
lofty aspirations have to be grounded in reality to be
achievable. So we have developed a set of principles
that will guide our approach to being a proactive
regulator. We aspire to be:
• transparent in our operations and decision making
• assisting: working with our customers
• connected and aligned, nationally and internationally
• evidence-driven in our decision making and planning
• confident in our activities, and less risk averse
• anticipatory in our regulatory design and monitoring.
Making these aspirations explicit will ensure
stakeholders hold us accountable for them.
That’s a challenging prospect that we welcome.
Being a proactive regulator requires us to be
joined-up internally, and to coordinate our efforts
across our various work groups and initiatives.
It is the embodiment of our goal of acting as
One EPA: many experts, one authoritative
voice, supported by evidence and science.
What are the likely outcomes of this new approach?
We hope that our customers, and the New Zealand
public in general, will have more confidence in our
processes and decision making. We are developing
a higher level of engagement with them, and higher
levels of trust. This should lead to higher rates of
regulatory compliance, and improved efficiency in our
processes. We also should be better able to target
resources to areas identified as being higher risk.
In short, we should make considerably more progress
to ensure our environment and people are better
protected against harm.

Being an open book

This annual report
describes a range of
activities undertaken
or launched over
the past year that
exemplify the proactive
regulator approach.
These will be added to,
and expanded, in the
coming year. Here are
some examples.

To kick-start the EPA’s drive to be more open and
transparent, we are working on a short-term project
with long-term consequences and significance,
which we call Open Book. This seeks transparency
in all EPA decision making. Policy and guidelines
have been developed enabling us to make publicly
available our priorities, policies, decisions and
underpinning advice. This will mean all stakeholders
can see the basis for our decision making, assess
our approach and, in some cases, hold the EPA to
account. Information will not, of course, be made
public where there are legal, privacy or other issues
that make doing so contrary to the public interest.
Providing a greater flow of information to stakeholders
and the public should assist them to understand more
about us, and what is required of them when they apply
to, or transact with, the EPA.

Hazardous substances risk
assessment methodology
Our hazardous substances team has published,
for feedback, the methodology the EPA uses
when assessing applications for new hazardous
substances, and reassessing existing approvals.
This explains how the EPA assesses risks, costs,
and benefits associated with the substance
in question. In particular, it describes in detail
the models used to evaluate pesticides.
Seeking input on the methodology from applicants,
industry, government departments, and the general
public will help to ensure we have the best available
information on which to base our assessments. We
also hope it will build confidence in our approach
and processes. Being explicit about how we do
our work should help applicants when applying
to us for an approval. It may also assist them
when conducting their own risk assessments.
This is the first time the EPA has released its decisionmaking approach, which assesses the evidence and
data for hundreds of imported or manufactured
hazardous substances in New Zealand. As we focus
on being a more proactive and transparent regulator,
we want to enable interested parties and the public to
understand the science behind our decision making.
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Chemical modernisation
The EPA has initiated a work programme to modernise
how chemicals are regulated. Our aim is to deliver a
modern, innovative, and fit-for purpose regulatory
and compliance system. We want to understand our
customers and their needs, and to make well-informed
decisions in the public interest.
We are updating how we manage hazardous substances
applications, aligning our processes and priorities with
those of our regulatory partners. We want to emphasise
compliance and monitoring, using improved systems
and processes. We are reviewing our application forms
and processes, and will consult with applicants and
other customers on our ideas for improvement.
We are investigating how routine applications for
hazardous substances approvals may be facilitated
using online tools and overseas determinations. This
will produce time savings, releasing staff time and funds
for reassessing controls placed on such substances,
to see if they should be changed and/or phased-out in
New Zealand.
Business cases are being developed to replace the EPA’s
hazardous substances database with an internationally
aligned system, and to implement an update to the
global classification system.
To ensure risks to people and the environment continue
to be managed effectively, the EPA decided to ramp up
its programme of reviewing and reassessing chemicals.
We compiled a list of approximately 300 chemicals that
both New Zealand and international information indicated
merited review. We developed tools to screen and prioritise
the chemicals for reassessment, and have established
a dedicated team to give momentum to this work. New
science-based evidence, research and understanding
about chemicals becomes available every day, and
newer chemistry, offering more benefits and fewer
risks, is introduced to the market over time. This work is
about keeping New Zealand and New Zealanders safe.
We have worked with our international counterpart
agencies, as we do on much of our work. For example,
our prototype chemical reassessments screening model
(FRCaST) has been reviewed by the National Industrial
Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme
(NICNAS) in Australia, Environment and Climate
Change Canada, and Health Canada.
This independent, external review provides a robust
foundation from which we can take our new list of priority
chemicals for reassessment into the public domain.
Our first reassessment under the new framework is of
herbicides containing paraquat. These are of concern
because paraquat has severe effects on human health
and aquatic environments. The EPA issued a call for
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The EPA commenced
a project aimed at
developing a ‘chemical
map’ of New Zealand
to help make informed
decisions about our
use of chemicals
across the country.
information, seeking data about paraquat formulations,
how the products are actually used, their benefits,
the availability of alternatives, and known incidents
or injuries arising from their use. This information is
being analysed and will help us to build a profile of
paraquat use across New Zealand, as an input to the
reassessment application.
During the past year, the EPA commenced an ambitious
project aimed at developing a 'chemical map' of
New Zealand. This will help us and others to make
informed decisions about our use of chemicals across
the country. We want to spark conversations with
stakeholders about chemical management, and to see
how we compare with other countries.
Our early thinking is that we may be able to develop a
graphic representation to show, for any given chemical:
• the amount of the chemical in New Zealand
• its international and domestic regulatory status, and
information about the rules/controls that apply in
New Zealand
• evidence of acute harm, physical hazard information,
toxicological and ecotoxicological information, and
data about environmental persistence
• use and exposure information, information about
non-compliance, and location of common use.
We are also considering grouping chemicals by type,
and producing a range of maps, aggregating to a
“chemical atlas” of New Zealand. This might include
mapping the chemical loading of specific geographic
regions. The first stage is to develop an analytical
framework to derive data to be plotted graphically, and
then to consider the appropriate platform on which to
display it. This work is now entering the design stage.
This is an exciting and far-reaching project, which will
require close liaison with stakeholders. We hope it may
produce a system for visualising chemical information in
ways that will provide insights for decision makers, both
at the EPA and elsewhere.

Red Alerts and Caution
Notices

Pilot workshop for
low-cost stores

These instruments are new precautionary tools the
EPA has introduced to raise awareness about dangers
arising from use of particular hazardous substances.
Red Alerts warn of very significant dangers. Caution
Notices alert consumers and users on how to stay safe
and protect the environment when handling or applying
particular hazardous substances.

In November 2017, our hazardous substances
compliance team ran a workshop at Manukau for
importers, suppliers and operators of low-cost stores
(popularly described as $2 shops). We wanted to
familiarise them with their obligations under the
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms (HSNO)
Act 1996 regarding importation and sale of products
containing hazardous substances.

We issued our first
Red Alert Notice
to warn consumers
about the dangers
of chlorpyrifos,
commonly used as
an insecticide.
Last year, we issued our first Red Alert Notice to
warn consumers about the dangers of chlorpyrifos,
commonly used as an insecticide. This year we issued
a Caution Notice to recommend safety measures for
consumers when using products to eradicate rats, mice,
and similar pests around the home. The Caution Notice
provided advice about how to handle, use and store
these products, how to dispose of them safely, and
what to do if accidental exposure occurs.

The initiative resulted from the compliance team
visiting a series of stores and finding that a wide
range of products regulated under the Act – including
cosmetics, household cleaners and crayons – were
being displayed for sale without the necessary warning
labels. The workshop explained the requirements under
the law to ensure products are compliant, adequately
labelled, and are safe and reliable for customers.
This proactive approach was welcomed by those
attending, who understood that the financial penalties
and loss to reputation that can flow from a product
recall or imposition of fines for non-compliance are bad
for business. We expect to deliver further workshops,
drawing on lessons learned from the successful pilot.

Working with major
retail chains
Similarly, early in 2018 the compliance team met with
five of New Zealand’s major retail chains to discuss
their management approach toward the manufacture,
acquisition, and sale of goods containing hazardous
substances. Again, this was a proactive approach aimed
to apprise the retailers of their legal obligations and so
prevent harm from occurring.
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Protecting New Zealand’s
Exclusive Economic Zone
New Zealand’s Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) is
one of the world’s largest, covering four million
square kilometres of ocean and extending up to 370
kilometres offshore. The Exclusive Economic Zone and
Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012
(EEZ Act) promotes the sustainable management of
natural resources within the zone, and protects the
environment from pollution. Under the EEZ Act, the
EPA is responsible for managing the effects of specified
restricted activities in the EEZ and continental shelf
related to the exploration and use of marine resources.
Our Climate, Land and Oceans group developed an
annual compliance programme, prioritising activity
according to risk. It initially focused on produced water
discharges, which are the main source of potential
pollution from offshore oil and gas facilities in the EEZ. The
group discussed its compliance monitoring policy with
the Petroleum Regulator Forum in August 2017. The EPA
co-chairs this forum, along with the Petroleum Exploration
and Production Association of New Zealand (PEPANZ).
The forum provides an opportunity for all onshore and
offshore petroleum producers to discuss issues of mutual
interest with the EPA, which regulates their operations.
Local government also contributes, with this meeting
being hosted by the New Plymouth District Council.
As part of the compliance programme, in March 2018
EPA compliance officers carried out an on-board
inspection of the vessel Amazon Warrior, which was
undertaking a seismic survey in the Taranaki Basin,
within New Zealand’s EEZ. As a permitted activity,
operators can carry out seismic surveys, but must
minimise acoustic noise – sound or vibration audible to
marine mammals – and follow guidance issued by the
Department of Conservation. Operators must notify
the EPA before the activity begins, and are subject
to inspection at any time. EPA compliance officers
undertook a day-long inspection of the vessel, and
audited its internal systems and records.

In September 2017, the EPA’s EEZ compliance team
organised a meeting, involving WorkSafe New Zealand
and Maritime New Zealand, to promote coordination
of offshore regulators during an incident. This focused
on communication channels, clarifying agency roles,
and how best to share information gathered during spill
responses, so it may be used for multiple purposes.
The Climate, Land and Oceans group services decisionmaking committees established by the EPA to consider
applications for marine consents, marine dumping
consents, and marine discharge consents in the EEZ.
It proactively makes available online evidence and
transcripts of hearings, and publishes documents
provided by each party on the EPA website.
In August 2017, the EPA publicly released a decisionmaking committee’s decision to grant, subject to
conditions, marine consents and marine discharge
consents to Trans-Tasman Resources Ltd. These related
to the company’s application to extract and process
iron sand from the seabed of the South Taranaki Bight.
Details of the application were included in last year’s
annual report.
Given widespread interest in the issue from the public,
iwi, and environmental groups – reflected by the decisionmaking committee receiving a record 13,733 submissions
– the EPA held a media briefing and published a public
notice to explain the committee’s decision.
The consents were granted on the casting vote of the
Chair, after two members voted in favour of granting the
consents, and two voted against. Subsequently, several
parties appealed this decision to the High Court, and a
hearing was held in April 2018. While outside the period
covered by this report, the Court released its judgment
on 28 August 2018. The Court declined seven of the eight
legal issues on appeal. However, on one matter it found
in favour of the appellants, quashed the decision of the
committee and, subject to any further appeals, referred
the matter back to the committee for reconsideration.
On 21 September 2018, TTRL sought leave to appeal the
High Court judgment in the Court of Appeal.

New Zealand’s Exclusive Economic Zone
is one of the world’s largest covering

4 million
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square kilometres

Understanding our
customers and meeting
their needs
The EPA’s customers span all sectors of the economy,
from apiary to zoo keeping. They are drawn from
multinational companies, and local businesses big and
small. Some seek advice or information from us, others
lodge applications to have an activity permitted or a
substance approved. Some may be local authorities,
government agencies, non-governmental organisations,
or trade associations. Others may be members of the
general public. The EPA endeavours to treat every
customer – corporate or individual – professionally,
honestly, and efficiently.
To measure how we are performing, the EPA has
conducted annual customer satisfaction surveys. In
July 2018, we received responses from nearly 500
customers, who provided feedback on our information
and services. The results were mixed, with a number of
our performance measures not being achieved. While
there was good news with improvement in some of
the measures, we are not convinced a survey of this
kind works, either for us or our customers. What has
helped though, is direct feedback from our customers.
Analysis of the feedback shows that customers want
the EPA to meet their needs in four key areas.
Information that is easy to access and understand:
Customers say they want to do the right thing, but
need more assistance from the EPA to access and
understand accurate information that meets their
needs, and spells out their obligations. They want
it to be easy to get information and updates, and
they want information to be readily available.
Clear, streamlined processes and transparent decision
making: Customers want the EPA to be clear about
the rules and regulations that apply to them, how we
will apply them, and the nature of our decision-making
processes. They seek guidance material that is clear and
direct. And they want to be kept informed about how
things are progressing, especially if there are issues that
require resolution. They are seeking streamlined, online
processes to speed up applications and approvals.
If there are delays, they want to know quickly.
A consistent, transparent and fair service: Customers
want a consistently high level of service from the EPA,
so they can access the right information quickly when
they need it. They want to be connected with the right
person without delay, and expect to be communicated
with respectfully. They also want their confidential
information to be safeguarded.
Engagement that adds value: Customers seek
closer engagement with the EPA, so they can learn
our expectations of them, and feel assured that their

concerns will be taken into account. They have an
appetite for seminars, workshops, and other exchanges
that will help to inform and update them on EPA
processes and approaches.
The EPA is responding to these challenges through
various initiatives. We have updated our website,
with a focus on clarity of navigation and ease of
access to information. Our proactive regulator
and open book initiatives will also make it easier
for customers to understand our processes and
thinking. A revised customer complaints/feedback
system has been launched to enable visible
reporting and learning across the organisation.
We have also launched an organisation-wide project
to put customers at the heart of our work. We are
developing an approach to analyse our customers,
their needs and business, and where they fit into the
context of the environment and the economy. It is early
days, but the approach is providing us with insights into
risks associated with industries and the way in which
regulatory action can be used effectively to reduce harm.
We are also working with other regulatory agencies
to share approaches to stakeholder engagement, and
customer complaints processes and systems.

Proposals of National
Significance and Water
Conservation Orders
Under the Resource Management Act 1991, applicants
may lodge Proposals of National Significance with
the EPA. These are for very large, complex projects
having nationally significant impacts. Decisions on
them are made by a Board of Inquiry or the Environment
Court. The EPA makes a recommendation on national
significance to the Minister. If the Minister decides
to establish a Board of Inquiry, the EPA’s role is to
administer the hearing process. During the past
year, the EPA did this for two Boards of Inquiry.
These respectively granted applications from the
New Zealand Transport Agency (NZTA) for the East
West Link and Northern Corridor Proposals of National
Significance, both in Auckland.
Water Conservation Orders set rules that regional
and local councils must abide by when considering
resource consent applications. They are provided for
in the Resource Management Act 1991, to recognise
and protect the outstanding values of particular
rivers, lakes, streams, ponds, wetlands, aquifers, and
bodies of geothermal water. During the year, the EPA
assisted two Special Tribunals to run hearings for
Water Conservation Order applications, in the Hawke’s
Bay and Tasman Districts. These were the first Water
Conservation Order hearings for more than a decade.
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CASE STUDY

Helping applicants engage with Māori
We have created a short animated video to introduce
New Zealand and international businesses to concepts
that will help them engage with Māori, before applying
to us for an environmental approval.
Māori cultural practices have a strong environmental
base, and the wellbeing of the land and the
wellbeing of the people are closely tied. When
decisions are being made about the management
of the environment, it is essential to take Māori
interests and the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi
into account. The protection of Māori rights and
interests is written into New Zealand law.
Therefore, individuals or businesses that are planning
to submit an application or proposal to the EPA need
to engage with Māori groups whose interests could be
affected by the application.
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However, many of the EPA’s applicant organisations
have no prior experience of doing so, hence the video.
It explains why organisations applying for an approval
need to engage with Māori, and show consideration not
only of how their proposal may affect our environment,
but also the rights and interests of Māori and other
New Zealanders.
Our focus is on the long term, and a better future way
of life, expressed in the whakataukī (proverb) heard
in the video: “Whatungarongaro te tangata, toitū te
whenua”, which means “As man disappears from sight,
the land remains”.

Mātauranga Māori
Mātauranga can be described as a body of
knowledge that seeks to explain phenomena by
drawing on concepts handed from one generation
of Māori to another. Each passing generation makes
its own contribution to mātauranga, so knowledge
continues to accumulate. This is not conceived
of as an archive, but rather a tool for thinking,
organising information, considering the ethics of
knowledge, the appropriateness of it, and informing
Māori about the world and their place in it.
Work continues on our Mātauranga Māori programme,
designed to weave mātauranga and conventional
science to create a uniquely New Zealand way of
addressing environmental issues. The huge body
of Māori knowledge about our flora, fauna, land,
waters, and sky is based on centuries of observation,
experience, and testing. This is very similar to what we
call the scientific method, but with spiritual and cultural
dimensions. Marrying the two involves addressing
issues of evidence, risk, law, and belief.
Our He Whetū Mārama work programme is well
underway. He Whetū Mārama is a framework that
guides the EPA in undertaking its statutory and other
obligations to Māori. The initial focus has been on
ensuring teams have the capability, tools, and on-thejob opportunities to engage in Te Ao Māori, and to
apply a Māori perspective to their work. We are now
working to identify opportunities for teams to integrate
Māori perspectives into process and policy.
Our aspiration is for staff to be able to develop, build
and maintain effective relationships with Māori,
respecting our obligations under Te Tiriti o Waitangi,
and taking into account tikanga (customs) and kawa
(protocol). The EPA continues its commitment to taking
cultural perspectives into account in its decision making
and policy advice.
As part of Te Wiki o Te Reo Māori, our He Whetū
Mārama working group and Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga
Taiao organised Toitū Te Taiao, a symposium inspired
by the whakatauki “Whatungarongaro te tangata, toitū
te whenua” – as man disappears from sight, the land
remains. This challenged staff to learn about mātauranga
Māori from various perspectives, and to engage in
robust discussion about the complex relationship
between mātauranga and conventional science.

Our aspiration is for
staff to be able to
develop, build and
maintain effective
relationships with
Māori, respecting our
obligations under Te
Tiriti o Waitangi, and
taking into account
tikanga (customs) and
kawa (protocol).
Our Kaupapa Kura Taiao team with Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga Taiao hosted a number of regional hui for
our Te Herenga network, as well as a national hui in
February 2018 at Te Mahurehure Marae in Auckland.
Te Herenga is a network of 80 to 100 iwi or hapū
environmental managers from across New Zealand,
established some 15 years ago. Presentations and
discussions at the national hui covered topics such as
regulating genetically modified organisms (GMOs),
Māori perspectives on gene editing, hazardous
substances and native species testing, EEZ permitted
activities and non-notified activities, and Nationally
Significant Proposals. A particular highlight was
an address by Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Assistant Professor Kevin Esvelt on his work on
the CRISPR system for genome engineering and
its regulation.
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Consumer safety
In 2017, the EPA launched a Safer Homes initiative,
aimed at keeping New Zealanders safe with hazardous
substances they use around the home and in the
garden. During the past year, we launched a Safer
Homes Facebook page, and have used it to post regular
safety messages. We partnered with Plunket, Fire and
Emergency New Zealand, the New Zealand Police,
SPCA, and the Wellington City Council, in a Safer
Homes exhibition in Wellington. This included making
presentations to various school groups.
We ran a four-day digital campaign, as part of the national
Safer Homes Week. We also participated in events such
as the Better Home and Living Show, the Wellington
Home and Garden Show, and the Healthy in the Hutt
programme. Often our staff give up weekend time to
engage with the public at these events, as informed and
engaging advocates of our safety messages.
Our 2017 HSNO monitoring report shows that
hospitalisations attributable to hazardous substances
are proportionately higher among our Pasifika and
Māori populations, and that Asian representation is
also growing. Incidents involving cleaning products
and petrol/diesel are major drivers of this increase.
This means we can target our information campaigns
accordingly. For example, we are planning to make
presentations at a Pacific Island Network group in
Porirua, and mounting safer homes displays at various
events, including Te Matatini, the national kapa haka
festival. We will run further digital campaigns with
partner agencies during Te Wiki o Te Reo Māori, and in
the run-up to the December/January holiday season.

Pollinator strategy
Bees pollinate our food crops and gardens, and produce
honey. The EPA works to keep bees safe, along with
other pollinators, such as moths, butterflies, hoverflies,
and birds. The EPA regulates when, how, and where
insecticides may be used, both in home gardens
and commercial enterprises in the agricultural and
horticultural sectors.
A class of insecticides that contain neonicotinoids are
of particular concern. They are systemic insecticides,
meaning pollinators can be exposed to them via pollen,
nectar, and droplets secreted from the pores of plants,
as well as through spray drift and contact with recentlytreated crops. Neonicotinoids have been available for
use in Australia and New Zealand for more than 20 years.
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The EPA has imposed controls on neonicotinoids solely
to protect bees. These include:
• no spraying near hives
• no spraying of crops likely to be visited by bees, or
when bees are foraging
• no spraying of flowering crops.
In 2017, we launched a pollinator strategy by developing
and publishing information about:
• our role as a regulator of neonicotinoids, and controls
for their safe use
• actions New Zealanders can take to mitigate harm
from neonicotinoids
• how we can encourage and support pollinators in our
gardens and communities.
That same year, the Ministry for Primary Industries
commissioned an annual survey to quantify bee colony
loss across New Zealand. Conducted by Landcare
Research, the survey estimated colony losses of
9.78 percent. There were various causes, the most
significant being Queen problems (34.3 percent),
suspected Varroa and related complications (16.9
percent), and suspected starvation (13.9 percent).
Suspected exposure to toxins ranked 11th of 13
causes, accounting for two percent of colony losses.
Information was not available about whether these
toxins were hazardous substances, as defined by the
HSNO Act.
Early in 2018, member states endorsed the European
Commission’s proposal to ban partially three
neonicotinoid insecticides, based on a revised risk
assessment. Outdoor use of insecticides containing
clothianidin, imidacloprid, and thiamethoxam has been
banned. Seeds treated with them may only be used in
closed greenhouses.
The EPA is evaluating the information which prompted
the European Commission’s ban. As an OECD member
country, we have introduced its Pollinator Incidents
Information System to record and share pollinator
incidents with regulators across the OECD. This will
enable comparison between local and international
developments, and help us to decide whether
New Zealand needs to take action to ensure our
pollinators remain protected.
We will continue working to protect pollinators, with
likely initiatives including an information programme for
schools. We also want to align our public information
programme with that of regulators in other jurisdictions,
to create a coordinated approach to keeping pollinators
safe. Domestically, we work closely with Apiculture
New Zealand. For example, we will be jointly running
a display at the Home and Garden Show, to promote
“safer homes for our pollinators”.

CASE STUDY

Community engagement
We are expanding our programme of getting out and
about, talking with people about keeping themselves
safe in and around the home, taking care of the
environment, and the wider environmental issues that
concern them.
Our Safer Homes programme aims to help people keep
their family safe by using, storing and disposing of
products properly.
Many products used in the home are considered
hazardous substances – from toothpaste to
dishwashing powder, cleaners, paint, and garden
sprays. These need to be used, stored, and disposed of
carefully. Special care is needed to keep children safe.
We are taking this message to events in the community
and to schools to help adults and children learn to spot
the dangers and protect themselves.
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PFAS investigation
In December 2017, the EPA initiated an investigation
into fire-fighting foams manufactured using PFOS or
PFOA, that may be held or being used at airports and
other locations in New Zealand. These substances –
perfluorooctane sulfonic acid and perfluorooctanoic
acid – belong to a broader family of human-made
chemicals known as PFAS.
Importing and manufacturing fire-fighting foams
containing PFOS or PFOA was effectively prohibited
in New Zealand in 2006, under the Fire-Fighting
Chemicals Group Standard.
PFOS is harmful in the environment, and may affect
human health from long-term exposure. Its use and
management is restricted internationally under the
Stockholm Convention, as it is a persistent organic
pollutant (POP).
The use of PFOA, and other PFAS chemicals, is already
restricted by many countries around the world. PFOA
is now under investigation internationally to see
whether it too should be classed as a POP under the
Stockholm Convention. However, until recently, foams
manufactured from PFOS or PFOA were widely used
internationally, particularly for training purposes,
because they were the most effective means of
extinguishing highly volatile liquid fuel fires, and there
were no effective alternatives.
The EPA became responsible for monitoring and
compliance regarding POPs from 1 December 2017, as
a result of amendments to the HSNO Act. Prior to this,
WorkSafe New Zealand and its predecessors were
responsible for enforcement.
The first priority of the EPA investigation was to identify
the types of foams held at airports, whether they had
been used or not, and to establish how and where
they are stored. Provided foams are appropriately
stored, they pose no immediate risk to people or the
environment. The EPA investigation does not include
New Zealand Defence Force (NZDF) bases, as the EPA
has no jurisdiction over the NZDF under the HSNO
Act, and the NZDF is conducting its own testing and
management practices.
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The EPA encouraged all aviation and fuel-based
facilities to check their fire-fighting foam stocks. If they
had non-compliant foam, we advised them to take the
initiative and begin planning to phase them out, and
to discuss their plans with us as soon as possible. Our
broad aim is to bring airports and other facilities into
compliance with their legal obligations, in the interests
of environmental and human safety. This may take some
time, given the need to source alternative foam, and to
clean fire trucks and other equipment.
As part of its investigation, the EPA has visited airports
with fire-fighting facilities, and is assessing the nature,
source and use of their fire-fighting foams. Other
facilities are also being investigated.
The response to contamination caused by these foams
has been an all-of-government effort, and the EPA has
been working with partner agencies, including the
NZDF, the Ministry for the Environment, the Ministry
of Health, the Ministry for Primary Industries, Fire and
Emergency New Zealand, territorial authorities, and the
New Zealand Airports’ Association.
However, the EPA’s investigation is independent of
any other agency, and is being conducted under the
HSNO Act.

New zoo containment
standard
Three people have died at zoos in New Zealand
over the past decade. The EPA has issued a new zoo
containment standard for building, maintaining and
operating zoo facilities in New Zealand. The Zoo
and Aquarium Association provided feedback on the
draft standard, which was issued for consultation in
early 2018.
The standard is approved by the EPA under the HSNO
Act, and enforced by the Ministry for Primary Industries
under the Biosecurity Act. The standard does not
prevent a zoo from keeping other animals that are not
new organisms, such as domestic livestock, native
species, or companion animals. It came into effect on
1 July 2018, and there is a one-year transitional period to
enable zoos to comply with the new requirements.

GMO cancer treatments
approved
A HSNO Act approval is needed before a medicine or
veterinary medicine that contains a new organism –
including any genetically modified organism (GMO)
– can be used in New Zealand. The EPA approved two
new organisms that are intended to be used in novel
cancer therapy trials.
In February 2018, the EPA approved the use of
Telomelysin, a genetically-modified virus, which may
now be used as part of a clinical trial for patients with
advanced and inoperable metastasised melanoma.
Telomelysin is derived from a common human virus that
nearly all people are immune to from around the age of
two. Once directly injected into the tumour, it replicates
in cancer cells, targeting them for destruction. The
clinical trial proposed in New Zealand is the fourth
globally to use Telomelysin. Previous early-stage clinical
trials have investigated the effect of Telomelysin on
advanced solid tumours, liver cancer, and head/neck,
oesophagus and lung cancer.
The clinical trial in New Zealand will study whether
Telomelysin injections in the tumour reduce its size, and
increase the survival time for patients.
In April 2018, the EPA approved the use of Pexa-Vec
in a clinical trial to assess the effectiveness of this
genetically-modified therapeutic vaccine in patients
with kidney cancer. New Zealand is one of four
countries where the trial will be conducted.

2

new organisms
intended to be used
in novel cancer therapy
trials have been
approved by the EPA.

The EPA previously approved Pexa-Vec for the liver
cancer clinical trial in 2015. This was the first approval
of a GMO, capable of reproducing itself, for human
therapeutic purposes, in New Zealand.
The vaccine has been altered genetically from a
smallpox vaccine, and works against rapidly growing
cells, such as cancer cells. The vaccine grows inside
cancer cells and kills them. The applicant hopes to show
the vaccine is safe and effective in treating patients
with kidney cancer, when administered directly into the
tumour or intravenously.

The applicant had conducted previous clinical trials
with the vaccine, in New Zealand and elsewhere, to
assess its effectiveness in treating liver cancer. In its
new application, it noted the results show that PexaVec is safe, and that there is some data to show it is
effective at reducing tumour burden.
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CASE STUDY

Energy generation customers
Very different in scale, both Wellington City
Council’s 1 MW electrical generator at the Southern
Landfill, and Mercury’s 140 MW Nga Awa Pura
geothermal power station, are part of the ETS.
The ETS touches a large part of New Zealand’s
economy and a range of industry areas. Two key
areas are energy and waste. As part of our customer
engagement, our staff visited a geothermal power
station and landfill site operator this year.
The Nga Awa Pura geothermal power station is a
joint venture between Mercury and Tauhara North
No 2 Trust. It cost $430 million to construct and has
the largest single shaft geothermal steam turbine in
the world.
Use of geothermal fluid for the purpose of
generating electricity is an activity included in
the ETS. Unlike solar, wind and hydroelectricity,
geothermal power stations release greenhouse
gas emissions during their operation. These gases
are contained in the hot geothermal fluid that is
extracted from underground. Nevertheless, the
emissions footprint of a geothermal power station is
typically much lower than using fossil fuels like coal
and gas for electricity generation.
Wellington City Council operates the Southern
Landfill waste disposal facility, which has a
1 MW electrical generator powered by landfill
gas. By capturing and burning landfill gas, which
is predominantly methane, Southern Landfill is
reducing its overall greenhouse gas emissions that
would otherwise occur. Council staff hosted a
site visit for the ETS team to provide an overview
of the facility, the gas collection infrastructure,
and to discuss compliance under the ETS.

The EPA wishes to thank Mercury and Wellington City Council for
facilitating the site visits.
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Meeting New Zealand’s
climate change obligations
New Zealand has international obligations to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions under the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).
Such reductions are essential to curbing the rate of
climate change. The key tool for accomplishing this
is the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS),
which the EPA administers, along with the NZ Emissions
Trading Register. The Register has been upgraded
to better support current functions, and to have
more flexibility for future needs, such as introducing
auctioning into the ETS.
New Zealand has a target to reduce emissions by 30
percent on 2005 levels by 2030. The Government’s
aims also include improving the operation of the ETS in
the 2020s, so it can best support achievement of the
2030 reduction target.
Early in the financial year, the Government
announced high-level changes to the ETS.
The proposals announced are to:
• introduce auctioning of units, to align the ETS to our
climate change targets
• limit participants’ use of international units when the
ETS reopens to international carbon markets
• develop a different price ceiling to eventually replace
the current $25 fixed-price option
• co-ordinate decisions on the supply settings in the
ETS over a rolling five-year period.

Whatever New Zealand-wide approaches we end
up with, the resulting vision and governance for
climate change should be set up in a way that is
adaptable, enduring, and delivers policy certainty,
and long-term signals.

EPA people
This summary of a year in the life of the EPA shows
the enormous range and significance of our work
– our people are at work far offshore in the EEZ, in
hearing rooms and tribunals, on marae, and out in the
community. They contribute to prestigious international
scientific gatherings, and represent New Zealand’s
interests overseas in many ways to United Nations,
European Union, Commonwealth, and many other
organisations. We work with apiarists, funeral directors,
retailers large and small, importers and manufacturers,
research scientists, universities, and CRIs.
We make presentations to school groups, to scientists,
community groups, and tangata whenua. We work
with media and other commentators to further
understanding of our work and its significance. This is
all in the interests of explaining our science, keeping
people safe, keeping the economy moving and, above
all, protecting our precious New Zealand environment.
Like the EPA itself, our people are full of life, and are
passionate about their role in ensuring Aotearoa has an
environment protected, an enhanced way of life, and
an economy that flourishes. They combine professional
excellence with personal commitment, and contribute
to making New Zealand a great environment for all of
us, and for future generations.

The EPA has worked with the Ministry for the
Environment to develop these proposals further,
particularly in the areas of auctioning, compliance,
market oversight, and information management.
As we submitted to the Productivity Commission, the
EPA believes that a shared, long-term vision across
government is necessary for encouraging the move to a
low-emissions economy. We already face challenges by
having multiple agencies, with varying responsibilities
and priorities, working on the same climate change
issues. A single, shared long-term vision will help to
avoid sector-based tensions, and support discussions on
how New Zealand wants to position itself more broadly –
for example, where will New Zealand’s future economic
growth, wealth and opportunities be driven from; and
how does climate change (and other environmental
considerations) contribute to, or impact on, these?

Dr Allan Freeth
Chief Executive
Environmental Protection Authority
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Strategic
framework
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A strategy to 2023 and beyond
The EPA is working on a revised strategic framework to advance our work over the medium term in the light
of our development as an organisation and changed expectations from the Government. The Minister for the
Environment and the Associate Minister for the Environment have asked the EPA to produce a new Statement
of Intent for 2019 to 2023.

Vision
The EPA’s vision is for an environment protected,
enhancing our way of life and the economy. This vision
guided our strategic thinking and operational delivery
throughout 2017/18.
While aspirational, we are realising the vision through
a series of tangible deliverables, as described in
this report. Our vision aligns with the Government’s
commitment to building economic prosperity and
fostering New Zealand’s unique natural environment.
It requires us to balance competing pressures in pursuit
of these goals.

Our vision is supported by our wawata, or aspiration,
Ka whai mōhio ā Te Mana Rauhī Taiao whakatau i te
hononga ake, i te hononga motuhake a Ngāi Māori
ki te Taiao – the unique relationship of Māori to the
environment informs EPA decision making.
The wawata reflects the important contribution of our
work with Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, our statutory
Māori Advisory Committee. It also acknowledges our
commitment to fulfilling our responsibilities to the
Treaty of Waitangi.

Strategy
The EPA has sought to achieve its vision through the
strategic framework developed for the 2016 – 2020
Statement of Intent. The framework includes four
strategic goals, which describe what we will achieve;
and four corresponding pillars, which outline how
we will achieve those goals. There are also four
strategic intentions, which describe the associated
outcomes sought.

Strategic goals
What we will achieve

Pillars
How we will achieve it

Strategic intentions 2016-2020
The shift we will make

People have trust and confidence
in our work

One EPA
Many experts, one authoritative
voice, supported by evidence
and science

Increase the trust of the nation, Māori,
and business through decision making
based on science, evidence, mātauranga
Māori, and risk assessment

Delivery of the right decisions,
cost effectively

Customer centric
Approaching our work from
the start to the finish with the
customer front of mind

Improve operational performance,
including through enhanced EPA systems,
and customer experiences

Protection of people and the
environment in partnership
with businesses, Māori, and the
community

Partnership plus
Working collaboratively for
success

Contribute effectively to the
Government’s environmental, wellbeing,
and economic outcomes and results

A confident EPA with highly
capable and engaged people
working collaboratively for
optimum results

People potential
Harnessing our people and their
potential for success

Build depth and breadth of leadership
and technical expertise to ensure we have
the capability and capacity to respond to
stakeholder and customer demand
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Statement of
responsibility
The Board of the EPA is responsible for the preparation
of the EPA’s Financial Statements and Statement of
Performance, and for the judgements made in them.
The Board is responsible for any end-of-year
performance information provided by the EPA under
section 19A of the Public Finance Act 1989.
The Board has the responsibility for establishing and
maintaining a system of internal controls designed to
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and
reliability of financial reporting.
In the Board’s opinion, these Financial Statements and
Statement of Performance fairly reflect the financial
position and operations of the EPA for the year ended
30 June 2018.
Signed on behalf of the Board by:

Gillian Wratt
Member
Environmental Protection Authority
25 October 2018

Dr Nicki Crauford
Member
Environmental Protection Authority
25 October 2018
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Statement of
performance
This section describes our performance against the measures and targets set out in our Statement of Performance
Expectations 2017/18.
The EPA is funded through a mix of Crown funding and third-party revenue. Crown funding is provided through
three appropriations in Vote Environment:
1. EPA decision-making functions
2. EPA monitoring and enforcement functions
3. Emissions Trading Scheme
This section provides summary information on our activities under each appropriation, and then a fuller statement
of the performance achieved, organised under the strategic goals set out in the Statement of Intent 2016–2020. This
report does not show the attribution of measures to specific appropriations, but those linkages are shown in the
Statement of Performance Expectations 2017/18.

Costs and revenue by output for the year ended 30 June 2018

In thousands of NZD

Actual
2018
Costs

Actual
2018
Revenue

Budget
2018
Costs

Budget
2018
Revenue

Actual
2017
Costs

Actual
2017
Revenue

EPA decision-making functions

18,801

16,024

17,028

17,028

16,139

17,503

EPA monitoring and enforcement functions

5,378

6,748

6,624

6,624

7,903

6,334

Emissions Trading Scheme

6,150

6,482

6,409

6,409

5,831

6,435

30,329

29,254

30,061

30,061

29,873

30,272

-

-

-

399

-

TOTAL EXPENDITURE / REVENUE
SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)

(1,075)

At the beginning of the financial year, the EPA made a strategic decision to utilise its accumulated surpluses in
reserves to fund business and systems improvement projects under its Programme of Work. The investment in
systems improvement projects involved a shift from investing in capital infrastructure to operational cloud-based
systems. This was in line with the Government’s Cloud First policy, which requires agencies to adopt cloud services
in preference to traditional IT systems because they are more cost effective, agile, are generally more secure,
and provide greater choice. For financial reporting purposes, the implementation costs for cloud-based system
solutions are expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense when incurred, rather than being
capitalised. This resulted in a net deficit of $1.075 million for 2017/18, and the reduction in the EPA’s accumulated
surpluses. The EPA plans to continue to operate a deficit budget operating model for 2018/19 to help fund the
delivery of other business efficiency projects under the annual Programme of Work.
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EPA decision-making functions
Our work under this appropriation is intended to achieve the objectives of environmental legislation we administer.
We strive to make decisions that:
• prevent and/or manage the adverse effects
of hazardous substances or new organisms
• fulfil New Zealand’s international obligations regarding
the import, export and use of ozone-depleting
substances, and the trans-boundary movement of
hazardous waste of international concern

• facilitate sustainable management of natural and
physical resources, with respect to projects of
national significance
• facilitate sustainable management of natural
resources in New Zealand’s exclusive economic zone
and continental shelf.

In thousands of NZD

Actual
2018

Budget
2018

Variance

Actual
2017

Crown funding

12,383

12,383

-

14,736

3,466

4,600

(1,135)

2,641

175

45

130

126

Total revenue

16,024

17,028

(1,005)

17,503

Less expenses

18,801

17,028

1,718

16,139

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)

(2,777)

(2,723)

1,364

Fees and charges
Other revenue

Hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone-depleting substances and
hazardous waste
The EPA assesses and makes decisions about
applications regarding hazardous substances and new
organisms under the HSNO Act. In 2017/18 we:
• provided 112 decisions or advice under Parts 5 and
6A of the Act, including import or manufacture
of substances, transhipment, reassessments, and
amendments to group standards

-

Following changes to the HSNO Act as part of the
Government’s Working Safer Reforms, the EPA
delegated a range of workplace-related hazardous
substance functions to WorkSafe New Zealand. These
included applications for test certifiers, periodic testers,
licences, and approvals under Part 6 of the HSNO Act.
The reforms came into effect from 1 December 2017.
Work completed included:
• publishing reissued group standards on the EPA
website and presenting them to Parliament

• decided 507 applications for import certificates for
explosives and for graphic materials, in accordance
with Part 6 of the Act

• issuing and gazetting eight new EPA Notices followed
by presentation to Parliament (as disallowable
instruments)

• decided 24 applications and statutory determinations
for new organisms under Part 1 of the Act.

• updating the Hazardous Substances Controls
Database to reflect the legislative split of functions

The EPA also regulates the import or export of
hazardous waste under the Imports and Exports
(Restrictions) Act 1988, and the Imports and Exports
(Restrictions) Prohibition Order (No 2), and of ozonedepleting substances under the Ozone Layer Protection
Act 1996. In 2017/18 we:

• establishing a new firework testing certification
function and process within the EPA.

• issued 84 permits related to the import, export or
transhipment of hazardous wastes of asbestoscontaining products
• issued 34 import or export permits for ozonedepleting substances.
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Resource management

Exclusive Economic Zone

The EPA manages resource consent applications
deemed to be of national significance, which are heard
and decided by independent Boards of Inquiry or
Special Tribunals. We advise Ministers on the national
significance of projects, and administer the process
should they decide to refer a proposal to a Board
of Inquiry. We also support other national decisionmaking processes under the Resource Management
Act 1991 (RMA), such as amendments to plans and
national policy statements, and applications for Water
Conservation Orders or Heritage Orders.

Under the EEZ Act, the EPA decides applications for
marine consents and rulings. This includes decision
making on dumping and discharge activities subject to
marine consent.

In 2017/18, we managed three applications for nationally
significant proposals:
• Northern Corridor – the decision of the Board of
Inquiry was released on 22 November 2017
• East West Link – the decision of the Board of Inquiry
was released on 23 January 2018
• Warkworth to Wellsford – the lodgement date for
this proposal was postponed.
We also ran hearings for two Water Conservation Order
applications:

On 3 August 2017, an EPA decision-making committee
granted, subject to conditions, a consent to extract
and process iron sand within the South Taranaki Bight.
A subsequent appeal, heard in April 2018, resulted in
the High Court quashing the decision and referring the
matter back to the decision-making committee
for reconsideration, although this judgement itself is
under appeal.
On 11 December 2017, an EPA decision-making
committee granted a notified marine consent for Shell
Taranaki for the use of a jack-up rig and associated
activities in the South Taranaki Bight.
In 2017/18, we also delivered:
• two decisions to approve non-notified marine
discharge consents
• work on three notified marine consent applications
(still in progress at the year-end)

• Ngaruroro and Clive Rivers and their catchments in
the Hawke’s Bay

• four decisions on requests for rulings for activities
relating to existing structures

• Te Waikoropupu Springs in Golden Bay.

• two decisions on changes of conditions for marine
discharge consents, with a further application in
progress at the year-end
• one decision on a change of condition for a marine
dumping consent that had originally been approved
by Maritime New Zealand
• one approval of a new emergency spill response plan.
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EPA monitoring and enforcement functions
Our work under this appropriation relates to monitoring and enforcing compliance:
• under the HSNO Act, the Ozone Layer Protection
Act, the Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act, and
the Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition
Order (No 2), jointly with other agencies, such as
the New Zealand Customs Service

• under the EEZ Act, with the requirements of
regulations, and any conditions of marine consents,
and maintaining the regulatory framework, and
regulatory stewardship.

In thousands of NZD

Actual
2018

Budget
2018

Variance

Actual
2017

Crown funding

6,594

6,492

102

4,142

Fees and charges

61

115

(54)

2,146

Other revenue

93

17

76

46

Total revenue

6,748

6,624

124

6,334

Less expenses

5,378

6,624

(1,246)

7,903

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

1,370

-

1,370

(1,569)

Hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone-depleting substances and hazardous
waste compliance
Our monitoring and enforcement activities under the
HSNO Act and the Ozone Layer Protection Act in
2017/18 included providing annual reports on topics
such as:
• activities and intentions of enforcement agencies
• effectiveness of hazardous substances and new
organisms controls
• aerial use of 1080
• use of methyl bromide
• new organism field trials
• use of aquatic herbicides.

Exclusive Economic Zone compliance
In 2017/18, we monitored 20 marine consents and 24
permitted activities. Our monitoring and inspections did
not identify any significant adverse events in the EEZ.
We implemented and continued developing the EEZ
compliance programme, prioritising our approach,
and frequency of inspection, according to risk.
We developed an EEZ Compliance Engagement
Plan, customised as appropriate to particular
stakeholders, with an emphasis on education
as a compliance tool. Improvements included
developing and publishing specific EEZ monitoring
policies, working to issue guidance on burials at
sea, and supporting a regular forum of local and
central government regulators, and industry.
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Maintaining the regulatory framework
and regulatory stewardship
This area of work covers:
• reviewing and maintaining EPA-administered
regulatory instruments
• facilitating Māori involvement in the EPA’s regulatory
activities
• supporting effective regulation, including access
to science, knowledge and information, public
information and education, and partnerships
• contributing to New Zealand’s involvement in
international agreements and protocols relating to
regulatory areas for which the EPA is responsible,
including the:
–– Basel Convention and Waigani Convention
(hazardous waste)
–– Cartagena Protocol (trade in living modified
organisms)
–– London Convention (dumping at sea)
–– Montreal Protocol (ozone-depleting substances)
–– Rotterdam Convention (transboundary trade in
specified hazardous chemicals)
–– Stockholm Convention (persistent organic
pollutants)
–– United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change.

Review, maintenance and development
of regulatory instruments
In 2017/18, we reviewed the import certificate
requirements for explosives under the Hazardous
Substances (Importers and Manufacturers) Notice
2015 (the Notice). In April 2018, we consulted on
possible changes to the requirements, as part of
consultation on fees charged under the HSNO
Act. Following further consultation, the Notice
was changed to require import certificates for
explosives subject to the controlled substance licence
requirements, and for retail fireworks except for
novelty and noise-maker fireworks. The amendments
to the Notice came into force on 1 October 2018.
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International agreements
The EPA contributes to meeting New Zealand’s
commitments and associated work related to a number
of international environmental agreements. During
2017/18, we participated in:
• updating New Zealand’s implementation of the
Stockholm and Rotterdam Conventions. The Minister
for the Environment requested the EPA to consult,
and provide advice, on the new listings under the
Conventions, as required under section 141(1) of the
HSNO Act. In response, we prepared a report on the
consultation outcome and the proposed amendments
to the HSNO Act
• implementing the Kigali Amendment to the Montreal
Protocol. We provided technical and operational
advice to inform the Cabinet decision to ratify the
Kigali Amendment from 3 October 2019, in order to
begin phasing down hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) from
1 January 2020.

Facilitating Māori involvement in regulatory
activities
The EPA facilitates Māori involvement in our regulatory
activities in a number of ways.
• Te Herenga participation in the native species
working group that includes industry and other
government agencies.
• Production of a digital animation on the benefits
of engagement for applicants and submitters to
understand the impact their activity may have on
Māori rights and interests.
• Monthly e-newsletters to Te Herenga members on
applications open for submission, or wanting Māori
perspectives in the pre-application phase of the
process.
• Notification of iwi authorities, customary marine title
groups, and protected customary rights groups who
the EPA considers may be affected by an activity in
the EEZ.

Emissions Trading Scheme
New Zealand’s Emissions Trading Scheme supports and encourages global efforts to reduce the emission of
greenhouse gases by:
• assisting New Zealand to meet its international
obligations under the UNFCCC
• reducing New Zealand’s net emissions of those gases
to an unconditional target of 5 percent below 1990
levels by 2020, and to 30 percent below 2005 levels
by 2030.

Under this appropriation the EPA is responsible for
implementing, operating and administering the ETS.
We also operate the New Zealand Emissions Trading
Register (the Register). These activities allow the carbon
market to operate.

In thousands of NZD

Actual
2018

Budget
2018

Variance

Actual
2017

Crown funding

6,392

6,392

-

6,392

Other revenue

90

17

73

43

Total revenue

6,482

6,409

73

6,435

Less expenses

6,150

6,409

(259)

5,831

NET SURPLUS

332

-

332

604

ETS Operations
In 2017/18, we developed a new warranting programme
for enforcement officers under the Climate Change
Response Act 2002, carried out site visits, third-party
and desktop reviews to support participant compliance,
and continued to meet our international and domestic
reporting obligations.

The Register supported 5,100 transactions between
private holding accounts (excluding Crown transactions
and surrenders), involving approximately 95 million units.
It allowed participants to meet their emissions obligations
through surrendering 28.5 million units.

5,100

transactions were supported by the Register,
involving approximately 95 million units.
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Performance measures
The EPA’s 2016–2020 Statement of Intent provided a set
of indicators and measures of effectiveness. The 2017/18
Statement of Performance Expectations confirmed 31
targets for those performance measures. Thirteen of
the measures detailed in the following pages are based
on survey responses. The EPA’s annual customer survey
results show we did not achieve a number of targets,
with results statistically similar to the 2016/17 results
for the ten measures that rely on this data. A number of
difficulties have emerged over the past two years with

the customer survey. Response rates are low, reflecting
difficulties with conducting a single complex survey
each year of many customers who have very different
interactions with the EPA. The survey methodology is
being reviewed for 2018/19, and all the performance
measures are being reviewed as we develop a new
Statement of Intent.

Goal: People have trust and confidence in our work
Strategic Intention: Increase the trust of the nation, Māori, and business through decision making based
on science, evidence, mātauranga Māori, and risk assessment

Measure

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

New Zealanders trust the impartiality and transparency of the EPA’s activities
New Zealanders have trust and
confidence in the EPA

By 30 June 2018,
greater than 70%

69%

Not achieved

56%

Customers trust in the integrity
and security of the NZETR and
ETS systems and processes

By 30 June 2018,
greater than 90%

71%

Not achieved

67%

Applicants and submitters
(HSNO/RMA/EEZ), and Ngā
Kaihautū, Te Herenga, Iwi, and
Māori, have trust and confidence
in the EPA

By 30 June 2018, 80%

Applicants
and
submitters:
55%
Māori: 55%

Not achieved

Applicants
and
submitters:
56%
Māori: 47%

HSNO and EEZ decision-making
processes are robust and
objective

100% of a sample of decisions
meet agreed criteria

Hazardous
substances
decisions:
66%

Not achieved

100% of
sample
decisions
met agreed
criteria

New
organisms
decisions:
100%

Achieved

100% of
sample
decisions
met agreed
criteria

EEZ
decisions:
100%

Achieved

100% of
sample
decisions
met agreed
criteria

Applicants:
50%
submitters:
37%

Not achieved

Applicants:
60%
Submitters:
51%

Applicants and submitters agree
that information on the main
factors taken into account in EPA
decisions made (HSNO/RMA/
EEZ), and how these influenced
the decisions, is clear to
understand and easy to access
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By 30 June 2018, 80%

Information on New Zealanders’ trust and confidence
in the EPA is obtained from Research New Zealand’s
Public Sector Trust & Confidence Survey. Although the
EPA did not reach the target of 70 percent, our results
are just below the target and a statistically significant
increase in the rating achieved in 2016/17. We consider
this a positive result, particularly related to better
communication about our work to the community.
Levels of trust in the ETS have improved slightly, as
customers build familiarity with the new Register and
greater understanding of our systems and processes.
We have worked to alleviate some customer frustration
by educating participants on the rationale behind our
security measures and processes. A further focus
on continuous improvement has seen incremental
enhancements made to the Register.
A significant programme of work is under way to
improve our performance and increase the level of
trust and confidence applicants and submitters in
particular have in us. We have made a commitment to
becoming a proactive regulator, based on principles of
transparency, connectedness, assisting, anticipating,
evidence driven, and confidence. The first focus was the
Open Book initiative; we will be moving to making our

Measure

information published by default unless there is a good
reason for withholding.
Towards the end of 2017/18, we started a multi-year
hazardous substances programme to not only modernise
New Zealand’s chemical management regime, but also
deliver modern systems and effective processes with the
customer at the centre of design. We have established
a customer focus group as part of that programme.
This means we can work together with a broad range
of customers as we improve the way we work and
the services we deliver. We are also committed to
improving the information we provide to make it easier to
understand how we make our decisions.
A recent independent audit of a small number of
hazardous substances application decisions highlighted
areas where we needed to make improvements. This
was particularly related to the timeliness of decision
making and the documentation of, and adherence
to, quality processes (three of the nine sampled
applications did not fully comply). As part of the
modernisation programme we will be implementing
a quality management system to ensure that the
audit findings are addressed and our decision-making
processes are robust and objective.

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

The EPA is regarded as contributing effectively across all-of-government or sector-specific initiatives
Positive feedback from Ministers
and central and local government
agencies on the EPA’s leadership
and contributions, to both sectorwide government work and
responding to specific queries

Minimum sample of 25
contacted annually with at
least 80% positive feedback

87%

Achieved

98%

46%

Not achieved

41%

New Zealanders are aware of the EPA’s role and purpose
New Zealanders consider they
know a reasonable amount about
what the EPA does

By 30 June 2018, 50%

Information on New Zealanders' awareness of the EPA is obtained from Research New Zealand’s Public Sector Trust
& Confidence Survey. Although the increase in the rating over that achieved in 2016/17 was five percentage points,
and in a positive direction, it was not statistically significant.
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Goal: Delivery of the right decisions cost effectively
Strategic Intention: Improve operational performance, including through enhanced EPA systems, and customer
experiences

Measure

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

Customers are satisfied with the overall level of service provided by the EPA
A customer-centricity programme
is in place and is reflected in
business processes

By 30 June 2018, key
customer strategies
implemented

Strategies
implemented

Achieved

Achieved

EPA customers agree:
• our overall level of service
meets or exceeds expectations
• our information is easy or very
easy to access
• our information is easy or very
easy to understand
• it is easy or very easy to contact
us

By 30 June 2018, averaged
score of 80% or more

61%

Not achieved

65%

Applicants (HSNO/RMA/
EEZ) agree that the advice,
information and support provided
to assist their participation in
the application process meets or
exceeds their expectations

By 30 June 2018, 80%

56%

Not achieved

57%

Submitters (HSNO/RMA/
EEZ) agree that the advice,
information and support provided
to assist their participation in
the application process meets or
exceeds their expectations

By 30 June 2018, 80%

62%

Not achieved

63%

Users agree that the overall
quality of ETS service delivery
meets or exceeds their
expectations

By 30 June 2018, 80%

78%

Not achieved

67%

A programme of process reviews
is in place to identify efficiencies

By 30 June 2018, FMIS Reset
programme implemented

Programme
implemented

Achieved

New target

By 30 June 2018, completion
of third-party funding review

Review
completed

Achieved

New target

By 30 June 2018,
implementation of new
application processing
as part of the continuous
improvement project

Project
incorporated
into the
Programme
of Work

Not achieved

New target

We continued to focus on achieving significant systems and business improvements. Strategic projects were
identified at the start of the year and added to the Programme of Work, to realise targeted business efficiencies.
The majority of major projects were successfully delivered during the year, but some continuous improvement
projects were scoped to be part of multi-year programmes.
Improving our service delivery and customer experience are key focus areas for the Hazardous Substances
modernisation programme. Working with our customers, including applicants and submitters, we will continue
to apply our Customer Experience Framework to ensure that the changes we make deliver sustainable system,
process and service improvements.
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Within the ETS, there has been continued emphasis on listening to our customers this year. We have formalised
an approach to capturing and acting on customer feedback, and have visited selected customers to understand
their unique circumstances. These initiatives have helped us to prioritise our activities to the areas of the most
importance. Service improvements will also have been complemented by our ongoing efforts to enhance the
Register since its launch in 2016.

Measure

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

Undertaking our obligations to Māori, statutory and other, through our He Whetū Mārama framework
Māori agree:
• they are aware or very aware of
opportunities to participate in
EPA functions
• our overall quality of service
meets or exceeds expectations
• our information is easy or very
easy to access
• our information is easy or very
easy to understand
• it is easy or very easy to
contact us

By 30 June 2018,
averaged score of 80%

Average 59%

Not achieved

Average 59%

We continued work with the Te Herenga network using the He Whetū Mārama framework to improve engagement
with Māori. The Te Herenga model of engagement, and specific communications to Māori groups (Te Putara and
monthly e-panui) have been reviewed and changes continue to be implemented.
This also includes a regular review of our databases.

Measure

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

Customers are satisfied with the quality of online services
Customers agree that where
online transactions can be made
with EPA, it is easy or very easy to
carry them out

By 30 June 2018, 70%

57% agreed

Not achieved

54% agreed

New Zealanders who found
information that met their needs
on the EPA’s website, in the last 12
months

By 30 June 2018, 70%

52% agreed

Not achieved

55% agreed

The EPA is committed to continuing to improve its online systems to better meet the requirements of our users.
One area of improvement has been for ETS customers, where the Register, launched in 2016, had further small
modifications in 2017/18, when for the first time, 100 percent of non-forestry participants completed their surrender
obligations by the due date.
In response to customer feedback over the past two years, the EPA developed a new website, which was launched
in December 2017. A second phase of the website development was completed in June 2018. Google Analytics
website user data for the period 1 January to 30 June 2018 showed that website users nearly doubled in that period.
The pattern of pages viewed by users has changed markedly, from a narrow range of pages relating almost solely to
the hazardous substances databases, to a broad range of information including public consultations, news, careers,
and public safety information. We are committed to continuing to improve the website to meet users’ requirements.
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Goal: Protection of people and the environment in partnership with businesses, Māori,
and the community
Strategic Intention: Contribute effectively to the Government environmental, wellbeing, and economic outcomes
and results

Measure

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

The impacts of hazardous substances on the environment are understood and reduced
A hazardous substances
modernisation programme is
identified and agreed

Measure

By 30 June 2018, completion
of operational strategy to
reduce harm to people and
the environment

Programme
agreed

Achieved

New target

By 30 June 2018, programme
of reassessments is initiated
and has commenced

Programme
commenced

Achieved

New target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

Target

Achieve compliance with the approvals, consents, regulations, rules, and EPA Notices that we are responsible
for monitoring
Hazardous substances importers
and manufacturers, and EEZ
compliance and enforcement
programmes, are identified and
agreed

By 30 June 2018, intelligence
programme for HS completed

Programme
completed

Achieved

New target

By 30 June 2018, sampling
and testing programme
under way to determine level
of compliance for products
assigned to Group Standards

Testing
programme
only
completed
for PFAS

Not achieved

New target

By 30 June 2018, an EEZ
engagement plan is in place

Engagement
plan
approved

Achieved

New target

ETS data integrity ensures
that participants and account
holders are able to be contacted
appropriately, they are aware of
changes as they relate to the ETS
or the carbon market, and they
are able to undertake legitimate
transactions

98% of participant
registrations and account
applications are accurately
recorded in the Register
within two business days
of receipt of a properly
completed application

100%

Achieved

98.6%

Voluntary agreements in place
with industry on achieving
environmental management
systems, or similar that are in
line with modern international
practices, go beyond minimum
regulatory requirements, and
that are contributing to improved
environmental outcomes

By 30 June 2018, working
group within existing
agreement has completed
technical guidance for burials
at sea

Guidance
completed

Achieved

New target

The overall hazardous substances sampling and testing programme was delayed by the significant response
required for the investigation into the use of fire-fighting foams. The response included testing products, and
engaging with airports to ensure compliance with the Fire Fighting Group Standard, and requirements of the
Stockholm Convention.
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Measure

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

With partners and stakeholders, we are contributing to reducing harm from the storage and use of hazardous
substances in the home
Feedback from key agencies
involved in the promotion of
consumer health and safety
demonstrates EPA’s consumer
harm reduction information is
more accessible and effective

Positive feedback on whether Positive
information is more accessible feedback
and effective, with increasing received
trend

Achieved

100%

Agreements in place with
agencies dealing with families
and the wider community, such
as Plunket, Māori Women’s
Welfare League, Housing NZ, and
with industry, on joint initiatives
for promoting the better use,
storage and disposal of hazardous
substances

By 30 June 2018, existing
agreements are continuing to
promote the safety of people
in the home

Safety
promotions
continued

Achieved

New target

Measure

Target

Actual
2017/18

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

New organisms, bio-control agents, or hazardous substances can be demonstrated to have contributed to a
reduction in pests and/or weeds, and have not become a pest or weed
No instances have been reported
of EPA-approved new organisms
having become a pest, weed,
or disease

Zero incidents reported and
trend of no change

Zero
incidents
reported

Achieved

Zero
incidents

New organisms, bio-control or
hazardous substances significantly
reduce pests and/or weeds

Demonstrated by case
studies, quantitative and
qualitative assessments by
selected agencies

Assessments
monitored

Achieved

New target

Iwi/hapū are consistently enabled to give effect to kaitiakitanga
Undertake shared projects with
Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao,
Te Herenga, and Iwi on particular
areas of Māori interest in our work

At least one project initiated
between 1 July 2017 and 30
June 2018

Mātauranga
project
initiated with
Te Herenga
and Ngā
Kaihautū

Achieved

New target

Undertake re-evaluation of
how native threatened species
are taken into consideration
in hazardous substances risk
assessment

By 30 June 2018, literature
review completed

Literature
review
completed

Achieved

New
measure
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Financial
Statements
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
for the year ended 30 June 2018
Actual
2018

Budget
2018

Actual
2017

25,369

25,267

25,267

3,885

4,794

5,005

4

29,254

30,061

30,272

6

16,597

16,645

15,865

Boards and committees remuneration

14

280

381

297

EEZ Decision Making Committee remuneration

14

141

274

363

663

414

183

In thousands of NZD

Notes

Revenue
Funding from the Crown
Other revenue
TOTAL REVENUE

Expenses
Personnel costs

Boards of Inquiry and Special Tribunal Fees
Depreciation and amortisation expense

7

1,458

1,983

1,914

Other expenses

5

11,190

10,364

11,251

30,329

30,061

29,873

TOTAL EXPENSES
NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

(1,075)

-

399

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE

(1,075)

-

399

Actual
2018

Budget
2018

Actual
2017

BALANCE AT 1 JULY

14,472

14,389

14,073

Net surplus / (deficit) for the year

(1,075)

-

399

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE

13,397

14,389

14,472

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2018
In thousands of NZD

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2018
Notes

Actual
2018

Budget
2018

Actual
2017

12

2,704

3,420

2,107

Receivables

8,12

482

1,606

2,786

Investments

12

7,000

4,500

5,000

239

47

346

10,425

9,573

10,239

In thousands of NZD

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Prepayments
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

898

848

1,221

Intangible assets

7

5,275

6,818

6,261

6,173

7,666

7,482

16,598

17,239

17,721

9,12

1,841

1,733

1,964

Employee entitlements

10

1,047

810

933

Lease incentive

13

71

71

71

2,959

2,614

2,968

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements

10

101

95

70

Lease incentive

13

141

141

211

242

236

281

3,201

2,850

3,249

13,397

14,389

14,472

13,397

14,389

14,472

13,397

14,389

14,472

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

Equity
General fund
TOTAL EQUITY

11

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2018
Notes

Actual
2018

Budget
2018

Actual
2017

4

25,369

25,267

25,267

211

72

177

6,073

4,857

3,418

Payments to suppliers

(12,913)

(11,457)

(12,473)

Payments to employees

(15,823)

(16,596)

(15,430)

(17)

(9)

23

In thousands of NZD

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from the Crown
Interest received
Receipts from other revenue

Goods and services tax (net)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2,900

2,134

982

5,000

500

3,000

(214)

(250)

(123)

Purchase of intangible assets

(89)

(2,000)

(2,260)

Investments in term deposits

(7,000)

-

(2,500)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(2,303)

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from maturity of term deposits
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

12

(1,750)

(1,883)

597

384

(901)

2,107

3,036

3,008

2,704

3,420

2,107

Reconciliation of surplus / (deficit) with net cash from
operating activities
for the year ended 30 June 2018
Budget
2018

Actual
2017

-

399

1,458

1,983

1,914

(38)

-

-

1,420

1,983

1,914

(Gains) / losses on disposal of intangible assets

155

-

-

TOTAL ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING ACTIVITIES

155

-

-

Add / (less) net movements in working capital items

2,400

151

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2,900

2,134

In thousands of NZD

Notes

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

Actual
2018

(1,075)

Add / (less) non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense
(Gains) / losses on movement of leave provisions
TOTAL ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS NON CASH ITEMS

7

Add / (less) items classified as investing activities

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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(1,331)
982

Notes to the financial statements
1. Reporting entity
The Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) is a
Crown Agent as defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004
and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The EPA
was established under the Environmental Protection
Authority Act 2011. The EPA’s ultimate parent is the
New Zealand Crown (the Crown).
The EPA has responsibility for regulatory functions
concerning New Zealand’s environmental management.
These include national consenting under the Resource
Management Act, management of the New Zealand
Emissions Trading Scheme and Register, regulation of
hazardous substances, new organisms, ozone depleting
chemicals, hazardous waste exports and imports,
assessment of environmental effects in Antarctica, and
managing the environmental effects of activities in the
Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf.
EPA has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE)
for financial reporting purposes.
The financial statements for the EPA are for the year
ended 30 June 2018, and were approved by the Board
on 25 October 2018.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities
Act 2004 and with New Zealand Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP). They comply with
the PBE Accounting Standards as appropriate for Tier 1
Public Sector Public Benefit Entities.

b) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand
Dollars (NZD) and all amounts have been rounded to the
nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Significant accounting policies are included in the notes
to which they relate. Significant accounting policies
that do not relate to a specific note are outlined below.
There have been no changes to accounting policies and
the accounting policies have been applied consistently
throughout the year.

a) Impairment of non-financial assets

The EPA assesses at each reporting date whether there
is an indication that a non-cash-generating asset may
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the EPA
estimates the asset’s recoverable service amount. An
asset’s recoverable service amount is the higher of the
non-cash generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use.
In determining fair value less costs to sell, the EPA may
engage an independent valuer, or it may assess market
value based on the best available information. The
assessment of value is determined based on valuation
techniques that are appropriate for the asset.
Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining
service potential. It is determined using an approach
based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach,
a restoration cost approach, or a service units approach.
The most appropriate approach used to measure value
in use depends on the nature of the impairment and
availability of information. If an asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is
regarded as impaired and the carrying amount is written
down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment
loss or its reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.

b) Goods and services tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented
exclusive of GST, except for receivables and payables,
which are stated on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is
not recoverable as input tax, it is recognised as part of
the related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
Inland Revenue (IRD) is included as part of receivables
or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
The net GST paid to or received from the IRD, including
the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of
Cash Flows.

c) Income tax
The EPA is a public authority and consequently is
exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly,
no provision has been made for income tax.

d) Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
Performance Expectations as approved by the Board
at the beginning of the financial year. The budgeted
figures are unaudited.

The EPA classifies its property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets as non-cash generating assets because
the primary objective for the use of these assets is not
to realise a commercial return.
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e) Standards issued and not yet effective, and not
early adopted
There are no new, revised or amended standards that
have been issued but not yet effective that would have a
significant impact on these financial statements.

3. Use of judgements and estimates
In preparing these financial statements, management
has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of the EPA’s accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these

estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to estimates are
recognised prospectively.

a) Judgements
• Provision for impairment of receivables (Note 8)
• Determining lease classification (Note 13)

b) Accounting estimates and assumptions
• Useful lives and residual value of property, plant
& equipment (PP&E) and software assets (Note 7)
• Measuring long service leave obligations (Note 10)

4. Revenue
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

2,260

1,251

844

2,146

-

864

Interest income

222

176

Other fees and revenue

137

42

3,463

4,479

25,369

25,267

Hazardous Substances application fees

322

493

New Organisms application fees

100

33

TOTAL REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

25,791

25,793

TOTAL REVENUE

29,254

30,272

Revenue from exchange transactions
Resource Management Act cost recovery fees
Exclusive Economic Zone cost recovery fees
Cost recovery from local government support

TOTAL REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Funding from the Crown
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Accounting Policies
Revenue from exchange and non-exchange
transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions are transactions
in which the EPA receives cash, and directly gives
approximately equal value, normally in the form of
services, to another entity in exchange. Revenue from
non-exchange transactions are those where the EPA
receives cash from another entity without directly
exchanging approximately equal value. The EPA’s
significant items of revenue are as follows.

a) Provision of services
Services provided to third parties under the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms (‘HSNO’) Act in
accordance with the EPA’s published fees and charges
schedule are treated as non-exchange transactions
as the fees and charges do not reflect the actual cost
of producing the services. Services provided to third
parties on commercial or full cost-recovery terms e.g.
in relation to the Resource Management Act (RMA) and

Economic Exclusive Zone (EEZ) are treated as exchange
transactions. Revenue from the provision of services are
recognised by reference to their stage of completion.

b) Revenue from the Crown
The EPA is primarily funded by the Crown. This
funding is restricted in its use for the purpose of the
EPA meeting the objectives specified in its founding
legislation and the scope of the relevant Crown
Appropriations. The EPA considers there are no
conditions attached to the funding and it is recognised
as revenue at the point of entitlement. This is
considered to be the start of the appropriation period to
which the funding relates. The fair value of revenue from
the Crown has been determined to be equivalent to the
amounts due in the funding arrangements.

c) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method.

5. Other expenses
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

74

72

Operating lease expenses

1,154

1,208

Consultancy costs

5,172

5,330

829

684

Other expenses

3,961

3,957

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

11,190

11,251

Audit fees – financial statements audit

Travel costs

Other expenses include expenses for computing and telecommunications, office stationery, publications, office
maintenance, and impairment loss on assets.
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6. Personnel costs
In thousands of NZD

Notes

Salaries and wages
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans
Increase / (decrease) in employee entitlements
Other staff-related costs
TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS

10

2018

2017

15,416

14,751

383

371

145

(43)

653

786

16,597

15,865

During the year ended 30 June 2018, five employees received a total of $143,853 in compensation or other
benefits in relation to cessation of employment (2017: seven employees, total $265,268) and is reported as other
staff-related costs.

Employee remuneration and other benefits
The number of employees who have received remuneration and other benefits in excess of $100,000 in bands of
$10,000 are disclosed in the table below:
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

100,000 – 109,999

8

10

110,000 – 119,999

5

8

120,000 – 129,999

5

4

130,000 – 139,999

4

5

140,000 – 149,999

9

6

150,000 – 159,999

-

-

160,000 – 169,999

-

1

170,000 – 179,999

3

2

180,000 – 189,999

2

1

190,000 – 199,999

1

2

200,000 – 209,999

1

1

250,000 – 259,999

1

-

270,000 – 279,999

-

1

400,000 – 409,999

1

1

TOTAL EMPLOYEES

40

42

Total value of remuneration and other benefits paid or payable
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7. Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Computer
hardware

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Capital work
in progress

Total

2,001

1,919

1,515

-

5,435

Additions

60

19

-

40

119

Disposals

(859)

(562)

-

-

(1,421)

In thousands of NZD

Costs
Balance at 1 July 2016

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

1,202

1,376

1,515

40

4,133

Additions

58

12

72

3

145

Disposals

(194)

-

-

-

(194)

Transfers

40

-

-

(40)

-

1,106

1,388

1,587

3

4,084

1,705

1,474

642

-

3,821

148

196

168

-

512

(859)

(562)

-

-

(1,421)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

994

1,108

810

-

2,912

Depreciation

128

168

172

-

468

Disposals

(194)

-

-

-

(194)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018

928

1,276

982

-

3,186

AT 1 JULY 2016

296

445

873

-

1,614

AT 30 JUNE 2017

208

268

705

40

1,221

AT 30 JUNE 2018

178

112

605

3

898

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 July 2016
Depreciation
Disposals

Carrying amounts
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Intangible assets
Computer
software

Capital work
in progress

Total

8,615

4,293

12,908

Additions

-

2,267

2,267

Disposals

(7)

-

(7)

Transfer

6,560

(6,560)

-

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

15,168

-

15,168

Additions

89

70

159

Disposals

(568)

-

(568)

Impairment loss

(155)

-

(155)

In thousands of NZD

Costs
Balance at 1 July 2016

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018

14,534

70

14,604

Balance at 1 July 2016

7,510

-

7,510

Amortisation

1,402

-

1,402

(5)

-

(5)

Accumulated amortisation

Disposals
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

8,907

-

8,907

Amortisation

990

-

990

Disposals

(568)

-

(568)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018

9,329

-

9,329

AT 1 JULY 2016

1,105

4,293

5,398

AT 30 JUNE 2017

6,261

-

6,261

AT 30 JUNE 2018

5,205

70

5,275

Carrying amounts

Accounting policies
All property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
or amortisation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Where an asset is acquired
in a non-exchange transaction for nil or nominal
consideration the asset is initially measured at its fair
value. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the EPA. All other
repair and maintenance costs are recognised in surplus
or deficit as incurred. The costs of self-constructed
assets are recognised as capital work in progress until
the assets are operating in the manner intended, at
which time they are transferred to property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets.
Depreciation and amortisation are recognised in surplus
or deficit and are calculated to spread the cost of items
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of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
less their residual values using the straight-line method
over their useful lives as follows.
Type of asset

Computer hardware
Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

Useful life

3 – 4 years
6 years

Leasehold improvements

6 – 9 years

Computer software

3 – 8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period. The majority
of computer software comprises the New Zealand
Emission Trading Register (NZETR) system.

Judgements and estimates

Accounting policies

Estimating useful lives of software assets

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently recorded at the amount due, less any
provision for impairment. A receivable is considered
impaired when there is objective evidence the amount
due will not be fully collected. The amount of the
impairment is the difference between the carrying
amount of the receivable and the present value of the
amounts expected to be collected.

The NZETR has been developed to replace the previous
system, and was commissioned into operation in the
first quarter of 2016/17. This system is estimated to have
a useful life of eight years.
During the year, management determined that a number
of system databases were obsolete or surplus to
requirements, which resulted in an impairment loss of
$154,913 being recognised.

Provision for impairment of receivables

Capital commitments
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

-

40

Intangible assets

262

-

TOTAL CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

262

40

Property, plant and equipment

Capital commitments represent capital expenditure
contracted for at reporting date but not yet incurred.
The intangible asset commitment represents the
contract signed for the replacement of the existing
NZETR – IAPS Replacement (New Zealand Emissions
Trading Register – Industrial Allocation Processing
System). (2017: Upgrade of Private Automatic Branch
Exchange (PABX) system).

8. Receivables
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

188

2,618

Receivables from other
activities (non-exchange
transactions)

8

104

Less provision for impairment

-

Receivables from provision
of services (exchange
transactions)

All receivables older than 30 days are considered to
be past due. Management has assessed any objective
evidence of impairment of all overdue receivables
as at the reporting date. There was no provision for
impairment of receivables at reporting date (2017:
$208,000). Management believes that other unimpaired
amounts that are past due by more than 30 days are still
collectible in full, based on the facts and circumstances
surrounding the delayed settlement.

9. Payables
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

810

1,028

Income in advance

-

111

Accrued expenses

714

446

7

40

310

339

1,841

1,964

Creditors

Other payables
Taxes payable (GST and PAYE)
TOTAL PAYABLES

Accounting policies
Creditors and other payables

(208)

NET RECEIVABLES

196

2,514

Other receivables

241

239

Accrued interest

45

33

482

2,786

TOTAL RECEIVABLES

Judgements

Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.
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10. Employee entitlements
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

Accrued salaries and wages

101

105

Accrued performance payments

140

141

Annual leave provision

803

669

3

18

1,047

933

98

70

3

-

101

70

1,148

1,003

Current

Long service leave provision
TOTAL CURRENT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Non-current
Long service leave provision
Retirement leave provision
TOTAL NON-CURRENT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Accounting policies

c) Defined contribution plans

a) Short-term employee entitlements

The EPA’s contributions to defined benefit plans are
expensed in surplus or deficit as incurred.

Short-term employee entitlements are expensed as
the related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the EPA has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
Employee entitlements are expected to be settled
within 12 months of reporting date are measured based
on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These
include salaries and wages accrued to reporting date,
annual leave earned but not yet taken at reporting date.
A liability and an expense for performance payments
are recognised where there is a contractual obligation
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.

b) Long-term employee entitlements
Employee entitlements that are due to be settled
beyond 12 months after the end of period in which the
employee renders the related service, such as long
service leave, have been calculated on an actuarial
basis. The calculations are based on:
• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on
years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood
that staff will reach the point of entitlement, and
contractual entitlements information; and
• the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
The risk-free discount rates and salary inflation rate are
published by the Treasury for consolidation into the
Government’s financial statements at 30 June 2018.
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Annual leave and vested long service leave are
classified as current liabilities. Non-vested long service
leave expected to be settled within 12 months of
reporting date are classified as current liabilities.
All other employee entitlements are classified as
non-current liabilities.

Critical accounting estimate and assumptions
Measuring long service leave obligations
The present value of the long service and retirement
leave obligations depend on a number of factors
that are determined on an actuarial basis. Two key
assumptions used in calculating this liability are the
discount rates and the salary inflation factor. Any
changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying
amount of the liability.
Expected future payments are discounted using
forward discount rates derived from the yield curve of
New Zealand government bonds. The discount rates
used have maturities that match, as closely as possible,
the estimated future cash outflows. The salary inflation
factor has been determined after considering historical
salary inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from
the Treasury. The discount rates used were:
• 1 year: 1.78% (2017: 1.97%)
• 2 years: 1.9% (2017: 2.36%)
• 3 or more years: 3.55% (2017: 3.92%).
The salary inflation factor up to 1 year was 1.7%
(2017: 1.67%) and over 1 year was 3.1% (2017: 3.1%).

If the discount rates were to differ by 1% from those
used, with all other factors held constant, the carrying
amount of the long service would be an estimated
$5,700 (2017: $4,500) higher or lower.
If the long-term salary inflation factor were to differ by
1% from that used, with all other factors held constant,
the carrying amount of the long service and retirement
liability would be an estimated $7,900 (2017: $6,300)
higher or lower.

11. Equity
Capital management
The EPA’s equity is its General fund, represented by net
assets. The EPA is subject to the financial management
and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities
Act 2004, which impose restrictions on borrowings,
acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and

indemnities, and the use of derivatives. The EPA
manages its equity as a by-product of prudently
managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities,
investments and general financial dealings, to ensure
the EPA effectively achieves its objectives and purpose
while remaining a going concern. During the current
accounting period the EPA has complied with the above
externally imposed capital requirement.

12. Financial instruments and risk
management
Accounting classification and fair value
The following table shows the carrying amounts of
financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial
instrument categories. The carrying amounts are a
reasonable approximation of the fair values of the
financial instruments.

In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

2,704

2,107

Receivables

482

2,786

Investments

7,000

5,000

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

10,186

9,893

Payables

1,531

1,625

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

1,531

1,625

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments
• Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
deposits held on call with banks and other short-term
deposits with maturities of three months or less.
• Investments comprise term deposits with banks with
maturities greater than 3 months.
• Payables exclude taxation liabilities owing to Inland
Revenue (GST and PAYE).

Risk management framework
The EPA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk. The EPA has a number of policies to manage the
risks associated with financial instruments to minimise
exposure. These policies do not allow any transactions
that are speculative in nature to be entered into. The
Board has overall responsibility for the establishment
and oversight of the EPA’s Audit and Risk Management
Committee (the ‘Committee’), which is responsible for
developing and monitoring the EPA’s risk management
policies and framework. The Committee reports
regularly to the Board on its activities.

The risk management policies and framework are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced
by the EPA, to set appropriate risk limits and controls
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed
regularly to reflect changes in the EPA activities.
The EPA, through its training, management standards
and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined
and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Committee oversees how management monitors
compliance with the EPA’s risk management policies
and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk
management framework in relation to the risks faced
by the EPA. The Committee is assisted in its oversight
role by the risk and assurance function in the EPA
that organises both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk
management controls and procedures, the results of
which are reported to the Committee and the Board.
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Financial risk management

Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the
EPA invests surplus cash with registered banks. The
EPA’s investment policy allows the investment of cash
with registered banks with a Standard and Poor’s credit
rating of AA– or higher. There has been no defaults
of interest or principal payments for term deposits.

a) Credit Risk
A credit risk is the risk that a third party will default
on its obligation to the EPA, causing the EPA to incur
a loss. The EPA has processes in place to review the
credit quality of customers before granting credit.
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

Westpac Banking Corporation (AA rating)

6,704

7,107

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group (ANZ) (AA rating)

3,000

-

TOTAL CASH AT BANK AND TERM DEPOSITS

9,704

7,107

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits held with:

The EPA may have significant concentrations of credit
risk from a limited number of parties, through the cost
recovery of expenses related to RMA and EEZ Act
applications. The EPA has no significant concentration
of credit risk from other operations.

The EPA’s maximum credit exposure for each class of
financial instrument is represented by the total carrying
amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and
investments term deposits. No collateral is held as
security against these financial instruments, including
instruments that are overdue or impaired.

The ageing profile of receivables at reporting date is detailed below.
2018

2017

In thousands of NZD

Gross

Impairment

Net

Gross

Impairment

Net

Due within 30 days

429

-

429

1,380

-

1,380

Past due 31-60 days

1

-

1

599

-

599

Past due 61-90 days

1

-

1

191

-

191

51

-

51

824

(208)

616

482

-

482

2,994

(208)

2,786

Past due over 90 days
TOTAL

There was no provision for impairment in respect of
receivables at reporting date (2017:$208,000). The
receivable that was over 90 days past due in 2017 was
subsequently paid in full, which resulted in reversal of
the provision for impairment during the year.

b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the EPA will encounter
difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by cash payment. The
EPA’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far

as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when they are due without risking damage
to its reputation.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The table below analyses the EPA’s financial liabilities
into maturity groupings, based on the remaining
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flow

Less than
6 months

6-12
months

Later than
1 year

2017 Payables*

1,625

1,625

1,625

-

-

2018 Payables*

1,531

1,531

1,531

-

-

In thousands of NZD

*Payables exclude taxation liabilities owing to the Inland Revenue Department (eg GST and PAYE).
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c) Market Risk

13. Operating leases

i. Interest rate risk

Leases as a lessee

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates. The EPA is exposed to interest
rate risks if its investments are at variable interest rates.
At reporting date, the EPA had no variable interest rate
investments. The EPA’s investment policy requires a
spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure
to short-term interest rate movements.

The EPA’s operating lease commitments relate to the
lease of the premises, in which five floors are occupied
with two rights of renewal to 2027, and car parks. The
future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of term
deposits
The maturity dates and weighted average effective
interest rates for term deposits are as follows:
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

Term deposit maturities of
3 to 9 months with average
maturity of 148 days
(2017: 4 to 6 months with
average maturity of 159 days)

7,000

5,000

Weighted average effective
interest rate (%)

3.15%

In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

Not later than one year

1,397

1,277

Later than one year and not
later than five years

2,793

3,834

-

-

4,190

5,111

2018

2017

Accommodation lease –
current

71

71

Accommodation lease –
non-current

141

211

TOTAL LEASE INCENTIVE

212

282

Later than five years
TOTAL NON-CANCELLABLE
OPERATING LEASES

Lease incentive
In thousands of NZD

3.33%

There were three term deposits, as at reporting date,
with maturity dates between 90 to 274 days that were
invested at fixed interest rates between 3.05% to 3.45%
(2017: 3.05% to 3.45%).
Sensitivity analysis – interest rate risk
If the average daily bank interest rate had been 50 basis
points lower or higher for the year ended 30 June 2018,
with all other variables held constant, the surplus for the
year would have been $67,300 higher (2017: $36,000)
or $41,253 lower (2017: $34,000).

ii. Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates. The EPA has no significant
exposure to foreign currency risks, as most of its
transactions and financial instruments are denominated
in New Zealand dollars.

iii. Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices. The EPA has no financial instrument that
is exposed to changes in market prices.
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14. Related-party transactions and key
management personnel

b) Key management personnel remuneration and
compensation

The EPA is a Crown Entity that is controlled by the
Crown.

The EPA classifies its key management personnel into
the following categories:

a) Significant transactions with governmentrelated entities

• Executive Leadership Team

The EPA has not disclosed related-party transactions
which have been made on an arm’s length basis.
The EPA received revenue from the Crown of $25.369
million (2017: $25.267 million) for specific purposes as
set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the
relevant Government appropriations.

In thousands of NZD

• Directors of the EPA Board and Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga
Taiao
• Members of the HSNO and EEZ Decision Making
Committees
The table below shows the aggregate remuneration
of key management personnel and the number of
individuals determined on a full-time equivalent basis.

2018

2017

2,102

2,146

9.35

9.43

Remuneration

200

200

Full-time equivalent members

1.03

1.03

63

60

0.52

0.47

17

37

0.15

0.32

141

363

0.63

1.63

TOTAL KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

2,523

2,806

TOTAL FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT PERSONNEL

11.68

12.88

Executive Leadership Team
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Board Members

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
EEZ Decision Making Committees
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
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Full-time equivalent for the Board is based on 50 working days for the Chair, 37.5 working days for the Deputy Chair
and 30 working days for members, in accordance with Cabinet Office Circular CO (09)5. The full-time equivalent
for the other committee members is based on the hours paid to the committee members.
The remuneration paid to Directors of the EPA Board, Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, and members of the HSNO and
EEZ Decision Making Committees are as follows.
In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

Kerry Prendergast

48

48

Kevin Thompson

26

26

Dayle Hunia

21

21

Geoffrey Thompson

21

21

Gillian Wratt

21

21

Kura Denness

21

21

Dr Nicki Crauford

21

21

Tim Lusk

21

21

TOTAL

200

200

In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

19

6

Steven (Tipene) Wilson

7

24

Dr Daniel Hikuroa

5

3

10

10

James Whetu (term ended July 2017)

1

4

Kelly May

5

3

Maree Haupai Puke

5

6

Ngaire Burley (term ended July 2017)

-

4

Lennie Johns (term commenced September 2017)

9

-

Keita Kohere (term commenced September 2017)

2

-

63

60

Board

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
Lisa te Heuheu

James Doherty

TOTAL
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In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

Kevin Thompson

4

8

Derek Belton

5

5

John Taylor

3

3

Kerry Laing

1

6

Louise Malone

1

3

Ngaire Phillips

1

6

Nick Roskruge

1

2

Sharon Adamson

1

4

17

37

TOTAL BOARD AND STATUTORY COMMITTEE REMUNERATION

280

297

In thousands of NZD

2018

2017

Alexander Shaw

13

99

Dr Gerda Kuschel

29

2

Gerald Coates

22

109

Kevin Thompson

10

60

Kerry Prendergast

17

2

Miria Pomare

17

4

20

87

Dr Nicki Crauford

3

-

Glenice Paine

2

-

Greg Hill

5

-

David Hill

3

-

TOTAL

141

363

TOTAL BOARD, STATUTORY COMMITTEE, AND EEZ DECISION MAKING
COMMITTEE REMUNERATION

421

660

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee

TOTAL

EEZ Decision Making Committee

Sharon McGarry
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15. Indemnity

Statement of Financial Position

The Board has insurance cover against loss caused by
wrongful acts or omissions of test certifiers approved
by the Board under the HSNO Act, where the acts or
omissions occurred in a professional capacity involving
test certifiers’ duties under the HSNO Act. The Board
has also agreed to indemnify members (as well as
members of Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, members
of the HSNO Committee, external experts co-opted
to Decision Making Committees and EPA employees)
for acts or omissions made in good faith and in the
performance or intended performance of the EPA’s
functions. The Board has insurance cover for members
of the Board and staff for personal accident and travel
risks associated with overseas travel on EPA business.

a) Cash and cash equivalents, and investments

16. Contingent assets or liabilities
There were no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30
June 2018 (2017: Nil).

17. Events after the balance sheet date
There were no significant events occurring after
reporting date that would materially affect these
financial statements (2017: Nil).

18. Explanation of significant variances
against budget
Explanations for significant variations from the EPA
budget figures in the Statement of Performance
Expectations are as follows.

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and
Expenses
a) Revenue
Crown revenue increased by $0.1 million related to
additional funding received to conduct the PFAS
response. Other revenue, which is primarily comprised
of revenue from cost recoveries, was under budget
by $0.9 million mainly as a result of lower activity and
applications than expected in hazardous substances
and the exclusive economic zone.

b) Expenses

Cash at bank and on deposit total $1.8 million
higher than originally budgeted, mainly reflecting
the significant reduction in the accounts receivable
balance.

b) Receivables
The accounts receivable balance has reduced by
$1.1 million compared to budget, due to the collection
of outstanding debt during the year.

c) Intangible assets
Intangible assets were $1.6 million less than budgeted
as there was less spent on capital expenditure than
budgeted. As explained above, the implementation of
cloud-based system solutions are classified as operational
expenditure when incurred for accounting purposes.
There have been limited software assets purchased
during the year that were subject to capitalisation.
Additionally, impairment losses of $0.2 million were
recorded for obsolete intangible assets.

d) Employee entitlements
Employee entitlements exceeded budget by
$0.2 million due to an increase in the provision for
annual leave.

e) Payables
Payables exceeded budget by $0.1 million due to higher
accruals of expenses at balance date.

Statement of Cash Flows
Receipts from other revenue were more than budgeted,
mainly due to the collection of outstanding debts
from accounts receivable during the year. Payments
to employees were lower than budget due to staff
turnover, which contributed to a number of vacant
positions during 2017/18. Payments to suppliers have
increased over budget reflecting the increase in
activity, particularly in the area of project related work.
The purchase of intangible assets has reduced against
budget for the reasons outlined above. Investments
during the year increased term deposits by $2.0 million.

Total expenses was marginally over budget by
$0.2 million. The EPA’s Programme of Work incurred a
total of $2.5 million in delivering a number of business
and systems improvement projects during the year,
some of which were not budgeted at the start of the
year. This was offset by reduced costs in a number
of areas including personnel costs, consultancy fees,
travel costs, computing and telecommunication
expenses. Total depreciation and amortisation were
also below budget by $0.5 million due to the EPA
implementing cloud-based applications, which are
expensed when incurred, instead of being capitalised
for future amortisation.
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Independent
Auditor’s Report
To the readers of Environmental Protection
Authority’s financial statements and
performance information for the year ended
30 June 2018

–– its standards of delivery performance
achieved as compared with forecasts included
in the statement of performance expectations
for the financial year; and

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Environmental
Protection Authority (the EPA). The Auditor-General
has appointed me, Chrissie Murray, using the staff
and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the
audit of the financial statements and the performance
information, including the performance information for
appropriations, of the EPA on his behalf.

–– its actual revenue and output expenses as
compared with the forecasts included in the
statement of performance expectations for
the financial year; and

Opinion
We have audited:
• the financial statements of the EPA on pages 38 to
55, that comprise the statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2018, the statement of comprehensive
revenue and expenses, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended
on that date and the notes to the financial statements
including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information; and
• the performance information of the EPA on pages 26
to 37.

In our opinion:
• the financial statements of the EPA on pages 38 to 55:
–– present fairly, in all material respects:
–– its financial position as at 30 June 2018; and
–– its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended; and
–– comply with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand in accordance with the
Public Benefit Entity Reporting Standards; and
• the performance information on pages 26 to 37:
–– presents fairly, in all material respects, the EPA’s
performance for the year ended 30 June 2018,
including:
–– for each class of reportable outputs:
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–– what has been achieved with the appropriations;
and
–– the actual expenses or capital expenditure
incurred compared with the appropriated or
forecast expenses or capital expenditure.
–– complies with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand.
Our audit was completed on 25 October 2018. This is
the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition,
we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our
responsibilities relating to the financial statements and
the performance information, we comment on other
information, and we explain our independence.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and
the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand)
issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Responsibilities
of the auditor section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial
statements and the performance information
The Board is responsible on behalf of the EPA for
preparing financial statements and performance
information that are fairly presented and comply
with generally accepted accounting practice in
New Zealand. The Board is responsible for such
internal control as it determine is necessary to enable
it to prepare financial statements and performance
information that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and the
performance information, the Board is responsible
on behalf of the EPA for assessing the EPA’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Board is also
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to
merge or to terminate the activities of the EPA, or there
is no realistic alternative but to do so.

As part of an audit in accordance with the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. Also:
• We identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements and the
performance information, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• We obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the EPA’s internal control.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown
Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of
the financial statements and the performance
information

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported
performance information within the EPA’s framework
for reporting its performance.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements and the performance
information, as a whole, are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of
the going concern basis of accounting by the Board
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
EPA’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements and
the performance information or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the EPA to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements are differences or
omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise
from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the decisions
of readers, taken on the basis of these financial
statements and the performance information.
For the budget information reported in the financial
statements and the performance information,
our procedures were limited to checking that
the information agreed to the EPA’s statement of
performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the
electronic publication of the financial statements and
the performance information.

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the financial statements and
the performance information, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
and the performance information represent
the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Board regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.
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Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included
on pages 4 to 23, and 60 to 72, but does not include the
financial statements and the performance information,
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements and the
performance information does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of audit
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements
and the performance information, our responsibility
is to read the other information. In doing so, we
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements and
the performance information or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on our work, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the EPA in accordance with
the independence requirements of the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the
independence requirements of Professional and Ethical
Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no
relationship with, or interests, in the EPA.

Chrissie Murray
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Customer
centricity
Generating and
maintaining the
capability to produce
the results New Zealand
needs from the EPA is
critical to our success.
The EPA is continuing a
multi-year programme
to recruit, retain and
develop the people
we need, and to
equip them with the
enhanced systems
tools needed to
improve services for
our customers.

Improve operational performance, including
through enhanced EPA systems, and customer
experiences

Enhanced systems
The EPA has continued its strategic investment
programme of improving processes and systems across
the organisation, so we can provide the services needed
to deliver the results sought by the Government. The
Programme of Work seeks to deliver or enhance key
strategic capabilities across the business, which in
2017/18 included implementation of:
• a new financial management information system
• the first phase of a new human resources information
system
• a redeveloped EPA external website
• the first phase of the Mātauranga cultural framework
• a new health and safety reporting system.
All projects were completed on time, and under budget
in 2017/18. A further two key programmes are ongoing
and are being delivered across multiple financial years.
The Programme of Work is now continuing into 2018/19,
which will involve significant investment in new or
upgraded systems and processes. These investments
will see a number of new projects added, which will
have a strong focus on modernising the management
and regulation of hazardous substances
in New Zealand.

Improved customer experiences
We are implementing new tools and ways of listening
to customers and gathering information to ensure we
better understand our customers and the industries
they operate in. We have systemised the way we
manage customer feedback and complaints, to
ensure we maintain an active dialogue with customers
and act on feedback. Our customer experience
framework is guiding our projects to respond to our
customer needs when designing new processes
and systems. All of this is aimed at ensuring we
maximise every opportunity to improve our service
delivery and improve customer experiences.
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People
potential
Goal: A confident EPA with highly capable and engaged people working collaboratively for
optimum results
Build depth and breadth of leadership and technical expertise to ensure we have the capability and capacity
to respond to stakeholder and customer demand
Measures that demonstrate
achievement

Actual
2017/18

Target

Target
achieved

Actual
2016/17

We have a strong learning culture that supports our ability to attract, grow and retain talent
Staff turnover

Less than 15%

20.8%

Not achieved

24.4%

Investment in staff training
and professional development
opportunities

2.75% annually

2.83%

Achieved

2.3%

Deliver a Human Resources
programme of work that covers:
• strengthening our capability
in leadership
• strategic agility
• Māori capability
• customer-centricity and
partnership engagement
• regulatory expertise

By 30 June 2018, leadership
Milestones
development milestones listed embedded
are successfully embedded

Achieved

New target

Number of staff who speak at
conferences or similar events, and
positive feedback received where
provided

More than 10 per year and
feedback equal to a rating of
4 out of 5

58 talks
given, with
positive
feedback
received

Achieved

Achieved

Staff are recognised for their
contributions to scientific,
technical, and specialist debates
and publications

Reports to Board show that
we are recognised for our
contributions

Contributions Achieved
recognised

Achieved

The EPA is committed to being an employer of choice
and having engaged staff who contribute to making
history and developing in their careers. We continue to
invest significantly in professional development. The
staff turnover has decreased year-on-year, supported
by the investment in staff development and systems.
With help from our 2017 EPA IBM survey, the EPA
developed three key areas for improvement:
• teams working well together in the organisation

We recognise that for some staff the EPA represents
the beginning of their career, and that we employ staff
from overseas who later choose to return to their home
countries. Over the longer term, we are looking at how
we link in with these employees to create a world-wide
talent and recruitment pool of expertise. Initiatives to
build Māori capability continued in 2017/18, including
ongoing Te Reo classes and other specific workshops,
being attended by the majority of staff.

• effective management of poor performance
• career development.
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Zero
work-related injuries
during the year

Health and safety

Good employer obligations

The EPA continued its programme of upgrading
its approach to health and safety following the
introduction of the Health and Safety at Work Act in
2015. The EPA continues to build its capability, and its
health and safety management systems continue to
mature. Work in 2017/18 included:

To be a good employer, the EPA must achieve high
standards across a range of measures. During the year
we collected benchmarking data, and reported on it to
the Human Rights Commission. Internally, we use the
data to drive continued performance improvement.

• implementation of a new health and safety reporting
system
• update of the EPA’s Business Continuity and Crisis
Management Plan

Obligations are monitored in the following areas:
• employee development and promotion, and exit
processes
• flexibility and work design

• refresher training for all Health and Safety
Representatives and Managers

• leadership, accountability and culture

• a pilot course on mental health first aid, to improve
awareness of mental health in the workplace

• preventing harassment and bullying

• ongoing engagement with staff about health, safety
and wellbeing activities, including staff presentations
and activities that promote physical wellbeing.
The EPA successfully reduced its health and safety
incidents by 14 percent compared to the previous year.
During this period, the EPA had no work-related injuries
or illnesses requiring medical treatment or lost time.
One (near miss) notifiable incident was reported to
WorkSafe New Zealand. While no one was harmed, the
EPA opted to notify WorkSafe due to the potential to
cause serious harm. Following the internal investigation
of the incident and corrective measures being put in
place, WorkSafe agreed that the actions taken were
appropriate and did not investigate further. The EPA is
committed to and continues to improve the knowledge
and awareness of health and safety across the business,
with a focus on working with others when entering their
premises to conduct compliance activities.
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• maintaining a safe and healthy environment
• recruitment, selection and induction
• remuneration, recognition and conditions.
The EPA has a diverse and highly-qualified workforce,
as our work calls for expertise across a wide range of
disciplines. The majority of our staff are New Zealandborn but, because of our reputation and the diversity
of our work, we are attractive to skilled staff from
other parts of the world, including Pacific, Asian and
European countries. We value the range of world views
and experiences our staff bring to their work.
Staff voluntarily provide information that allows us to
report (in aggregate) on their age, sex, ethnic identity,
and whether they identify themselves as disabled.

Good employer obligations

Achievements

Leadership, accountability and culture
Ensure the EPA’s vision
articulates our commitment to
equality and diversity

The EPA’s vision of an environment protected, enhancing our way of life and
the economy, is supported by organisational policies and processes (Code
of Conduct and Recruitment), and through He Whetū Mārama (our Māori
framework) that articulates our commitment to equality and diversity.

Encourage the development of
a culture that is supportive and
equitable for all staff

The majority of staff participated in the process to produce a series of value
statements, based on our four strategic pillars, which will help to drive
organisational culture. They are:
• Passionate people working as One EPA
• Big ideas, bold goals and aspirations
• Who we are, our identity and our purpose
• Our customers and partners and service to the nation
• Scientific endeavour, mātauranga Māori, and evidential decision making
• Being full of life through diversity of people and ideas.
Staff suggestions are encouraged and responded to. At our monthly all-staff
meeting, we acknowledge outstanding contributions to work deliverables, and
also examples of behaviours that uphold EPA values.
All staff are encouraged to contribute technical and opinion pieces, on matters
ranging from science to values, for publication on the intranet, and many do so.

Encourage development
of a learning culture that
will enhance the EPA’s
performance, while supporting
the aspirations of staff

We have increased our investment in staff learning and development, and
are committed to further increase by 2020. Learning and development
opportunities offered include secondments and management opportunities,
as well as formal, informal and on-the-job learning.

Recruitment, selection and induction
Ensure the continued use
of robust and transparent
recruitment and selection
processes

The management of recruitment by our HR specialists uses transparent hiring
processes to ensure that legislative requirements are met, and that the best
people are selected for the right position, at the appropriate time.

Use innovative channels to
attract diverse applicants

We recognise the importance of attracting, valuing, and understanding a
diverse workforce. We use a range of channels to attract candidates, including
recruitment websites, business and employment-oriented and social networking
services, such as LinkedIn and Twitter, national and international recruitment
agencies, journals, domestic newspapers and networking forums. We continue
to consider new ways to connect with our target audiences.

Monitor candidate and
workforce demographics
in relation to age, ethnicity,
gender and disability

The EPA recognises the importance of having equal employment policies in
place to eliminate barriers to employment. Information is collected relating to
staff demographics, and reports are delivered to management regularly.

Capability | 63

Good employer obligations

Achievements

Employee development, promotion and exit processes
The EPA will provide
equal access to personal
development and other
activities that may lead to
promotion

Each staff member has a performance and development plan, and is
encouraged to take up opportunities for advancement or personal development.
Workshops, seminars and courses are provided in-house for staff to attend.
Vacancies, advancement opportunities and secondments are advertised
internally. Career progression and secondment guidelines have been issued.

Our performance management
practices will be transparent
and fair

Staff are assessed against objectives, activities and competencies that are
agreed with their manager at the beginning of the reporting year, or as changes
occur. Managers review performance plans with staff at regular catch-up
sessions throughout the year. Performance reviews are conducted mid-year and
annually.

Staff will have the opportunity
to complete an ‘in-confidence’
exit survey

All staff leaving the EPA are offered the opportunity to complete a confidential
exit survey, either online or in person. This information is collated into generic
themes and provided to the management team, in the form of a report, to see if
any processes require reviewing.

Flexibility and work design
Work towards an organisationwide flexible work programme
to recognise the needs of
parents and other caregivers

Managers engage with staff about their wellbeing at regular catch-up sessions.
Discussions are held with new parents/caregivers prior to returning to work.
Support for individual needs can include working flexible hours, a phased return
to work, part-time hours or working from home. Reviews are undertaken to
monitor flexible working patterns, to ensure they are working well for all parties.

Provide facilities for the use of
parents/caregivers

A private wellbeing room is available for parents/caregivers.

Remuneration, recognition and conditions
Continue to provide
transparent, equitable and
gender-neutral job evaluation
processes

We regularly review job descriptions, job bands and remuneration levels, to
ensure transparent, equitable and gender-neutral job evaluation processes. Pay
equity and equality is monitored and reviewed across the organisation, over the
course of the year.

The remuneration system will
be reviewed regularly

The remuneration system is reviewed on a regular basis, with external trends
monitored throughout the year. Key data sets are reviewed as part of the endof-year remuneration process.

Prevention of harassment and bullying
Relevant policies and the Code
of Conduct will be promoted
to staff

We recognise it is critical to review and articulate key policies and practices for
all staff. We do this through induction processes, presentations at monthly staff
meetings and intranet updates. All new staff must read the Code of Conduct as
part of their induction, and attest in writing that they have done so.

Managers and staff are trained
in their responsibilities

All new staff members are provided with targeted induction processes and
face-to-face induction training, to ensure they know their responsibilities.
Within one to two months of joining, staff participate in a corporate induction
session that outlines the role of business units across the organisation.

The leadership team ensures
there is zero tolerance of
harassment and bullying

The EPA has zero tolerance of bullying. If identified, it would be dealt with
promptly and in an appropriate manner. Harassment and bullying information is
included in our Employment Relations policy. The EPA has also signed up to an
external integrity line, so staff can report any instances and remain anonymous.
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Good employer obligations

Achievements

Safe and healthy environment
Create an environment
that supports employee
participation in health
and safety

The Board, managers and staff are fully committed to ensuring that the EPA
is a safe environment in which to work. Staff representatives have been
elected as Health and Safety Representatives and they support the Health and
Safety Committee, which has members drawn from across the organisation.
Appropriate training is provided to all members and representatives.
The Board receives regular reports on incidents and hazards, and activities
undertaken to support Health and Safety. The Chief Executive is a member of
the Business Leaders Health and Safety Forum, which provides mutual support
to achieve Zero Harm Workplaces.

Take a proactive approach to
employee health and
wellbeing

All new employees and contractors are provided with a face-to-face health
and safety induction. In addition, all staff members receive a work station
assessment when they join the EPA, move desk, or have signs of discomfort.
Group discounts are available through providers for private healthcare. The EPA
also contributes towards eye tests and annual flu vaccinations for staff.

Staff will have easy access
to the Employee Assistance
Programme

The EPA promotes the Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) website and
0800 number on the staff intranet, through the HR team and on posters around
the organisation. Staff members are also told about EAP services during periods
of change, after natural disasters or during personal discussions with the HR
team or their managers.

Our policies will reflect these
commitments and progress
will be reported annually to the
Human Rights Commission

To ensure their effectiveness, our policies are reviewed against legislative
changes, legal precedent, effective equal employment opportunities and
good practice.
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63%
37%

Gender

65%
FEMALE 2017

FEMALE 2018

35%
MALE 2017

MALE 2018

Age

2018
2017

2017

2018

20-29

14%

13%

30-39

31%

31%

40-49

23%

23%

50-59

21%

20%

60-69

10%

12%

70 -79

1%

1%

2017

2018

Ethnicity
Key

2018
2017

New Zealand European

66%

61%

Other European

16%

20%

Māori

5%

5%

Undisclosed

3%

1%

Other Ethnic Group

3%

4%

Asian

3%

3%

Pacific Peoples

2%

1%

Samoan

1%

1%

Ethnicity NZ

1%

3%

Ethnicity NZ US

1%

1%

-

1%

European

We have no employees who categorise themselves as disabled. As at 30 June 2018 the average age of staff,
to the nearest whole year, is 44 years (2017: 43 years). There were 158 employees (2017: 159 employees).
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Median hourly rates
Role type

Staff numbers

Hourly rate

Administrator/Advisor

Median male:
Median female:
Gap:

18 staff
61 staff

$29.15
$29.18
0.00%

Senior Advisor/Team Leader/
Project Leader/Principal Advisor

Median male:
Median female:
Gap:

35 staff
31 staff

$51.25
$50.33
0.02%

Manager/General Manager

Median male:
Median female:
Gap:

7 staff
13 staff

$81.74
$81.35
0.01%

The EPA, as a good employer, is committed to
supporting and paying our people based on their skills
knowledge and experience. Accurate information is
needed to identify, eliminate and prevent any barriers in
the workplace. The EPA began work in 2016 to collect
and analyse data on any gender disparities. The table
above presents the EPA picture as at 30 June 2018. For
reasons of privacy, salary bands have been rolled up.
When broken down by occupational groups, as shown
above, the figures can differ widely, due to the variation
in numbers of each gender present within groups.

All aspects of remuneration, including equity of pay,
are an on-going focus for the EPA, and are addressed
through annual and six-month remuneration reviews.
Recruitment systems and practices are also key to
hiring people at starting salaries that accurately
represent their value.
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Responsibilities
and functions
The EPA is a Crown Agent for the purposes of the
Crown Entities Act 2004. The EPA was established
under the Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011.
Our objective, as set out in this Act, is to undertake our
functions in a way that:
• contributes to the efficient, effective and transparent
management of New Zealand’s environment, and
natural and physical resources
• enables New Zealand to meet its international
obligations.
The EPA has specific purposes under various pieces of
environmental legislation. They are:
• Climate Change Response Act 2002
• Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf
(Environmental Effects) Act 2012
• Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996
• Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act 1988 and
Prohibition Order (No 2) 2004
• Ozone Layer Protection Act 1996
• Resource Management Act 1991.
The EPA reports to the Minister for the Environment,
and the Minister for Climate Change on topics relevant
to their respective portfolios. The Associate Minister for
the Environment is the responsible minister for the EPA.
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Governance
The Minister for the Environment and the Associate
Minister for the Environment provide the EPA with an
annual letter outlining expectations. This document
guides development of the annual Statement of
Performance Expectations. The letter of expectations
for 2018/19 has requested the EPA to prepare a new
Statement of Intent for 2019–2023. Statements of Intent
and Statements of Performance Expectations are tabled
in Parliament, and are the primary sources from which
Parliament is able to hold the EPA to account.

The EPA Board
The Board has between six and eight members, who
are appointed by the Minister for the Environment. The
Board is responsible for governance of the organisation,
including setting strategic direction and monitoring
performance and, under the Health and Safety at Work
Act 2015, it holds ultimate accountability for health and
safety direction and performance of the EPA.
The Board is also responsible for statutory functions,
some of which it delegates to Board committees, or the
Chief Executive.
The Board usually meets six-weekly to carry out
governance functions and deal with major issues. Outof-session decisions are made as required.
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Board committees
The Board has appointed two standing committees to
assist it in carrying out its governance responsibilities.
• Audit and Risk Committee: oversees accountability
processes, and financial and organisational risks.
• Performance Review and Remuneration Committee:
monitors the Chief Executive’s performance and
approves the remuneration structure.

Statutory committees
The EPA is supported by two statutory committees.
• Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao has up to eight members,
appointed by the Board under the EPA Act 2011. They
advise the Board on policy, process and decision
making from a Māori perspective.
• The Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
(HSNO) Committee hears and decides applications
made under the HSNO Act, except for some
decisions that the Board has delegated to staff
members and third parties.

Decision making
Exclusive Economic
Zone Decision-making
Committees
The EEZ Act has three decision pathways for marine
consents, permissions and authorisations, following
enactment of the Resource Law Amendment Act on
1 June 2017:
• EPA-appointed, delegated Decision-making
Committees (which must include at least one EPA
Board member) for publicly notified marine consents
that are not section 20 activities, and for non-notified
marine consents.
• Boards of Inquiry appointed by the Minister for
the Environment (which may include an EPA Board
member) make decisions on marine consents for
restricted section 20 activities.
• Other decisions under the EEZ Act are delegated by
the EPA Board to the Chief Executive and EPA staff,
where appropriate.

Disclosure of interests
Section 68(6) of the Crown Entities Act 2004 requires
the Board to disclose any interests to which a
permission to act has been granted, despite a member
being interested in a matter. Below are the relevant
disclosures:
Dr Nicki Crauford disclosed two potential interests
related to her role as the EPA Board member sitting
on the Decision-making Committee (DMC) for the
application from OMV for a marine discharge consent
to discharge harmful substances. The potential interests
were her role as Chair of the Institute of Geological
and Nuclear Science Ltd (GNS) and her role as
specialist advisor to Advisian, which is a subsidiary and
consultancy arm of WorleyParsons New Zealand. GNS
has carried out a number of assignments for OMV in
the past, but were not currently carrying out any work.

WorleyParsons manages and executes specific
projects for OMV. Dr Crauford’s consultancy contract
was with WorleyParsons, but she operated under the
Advisian brand and did not carry out any work for
OMV. The person responsible for administering Dr
Crauford’s contract was not responsible for any OMV
contracts. Permission to act was granted by the Chair
of the Board, with the conditions that Dr Crauford:
• excuse herself from any part of GNS board meetings
in which matters relating to OMV may be discussed
• notify the EPA if she becomes aware of Advisian or
the New Zealand Manager of Advisian becoming
involved in any work for OMV.

Resource Management Act
decisions
Boards of Inquiry
Appointed by the Minister for the Environment
(sometimes in conjunction with the Minister of
Conservation) to make decisions on Nationally
Significant Proposals (NSPs). Over the years, NSPs
have included major roading projects, a prison,
a fish farm, a windfarm, and an inland port.

Special Tribunals
Appointed by the Minister for the Environment to make
decisions on applications for Water Conservation
Orders, designed to recognise and protect the
outstanding values of particular bodies of water.
They may be applied over rivers, lakes, streams,
ponds, wetlands or aquifers, and geothermal water.
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Glossary

CRI

Crown Research Institute

OECD

CRISPR

 lustered Regularly Interspaced
C
Short Palindromic Repeats – a
genetic engineering tool

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

PEPANZ

Petroleum Exploration and
Production Association of
New Zealand

DMC

Decision-making Committee

EAP

Employee Assistance Programme

PFAS

Perfluorinated alkylated substances

EEZ

Exclusive Economic Zone

PFOS

Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid

ETS

Emissions Trading Scheme

PFOA

Perfluorooctanoic acid

FRCaST

Flexible Reassessment
Categorisation Screening Tool – an
EPA tool to provide standardised,
risk-informed screening of chemicals.

POP

Persistent organic pollutant

RMA

Resource Management Act

SPCA

Royal New Zealand Society for the
Prevention of Cruelty to Animals

GMOs

Genetically modified organisms

UNFCCC

GNS

Institute of Geological & Nuclear
Sciences

United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change

HEPA

 eads of Environmental Protection
H
Authorities in Australia and
New Zealand

HFCs

Hydrofluorocarbons

HSNO

Hazardous substances and new
organisms

NICNAS

 ational Industrial Chemicals
N
Notification and Assessment Scheme
– Australian scheme for assessing
the risks of industrial chemicals

NKTT

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taio – the
EPA’s statutory Māori advisory
committee

NSP

Nationally Significant Proposal

NZDF

New Zealand Defence Force

NZETR

New Zealand Emissions Trading
Register

NZTA

New Zealand Transport Agency
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